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At Cafédirect our mission
is to change lives and build
communities through
inspirational, sustainable
business. We focus our social
and economic impact in the
developing world.

The grower
organisations
we partner with:
Cocoa

Tea

Cameroon
> MACEFCOOP

India
> Chamong Tea Company

Dominican Republic
> CONACADO

Kenya
> Eastern Produce Kenya-OEP
> Kiegoi
> Michimikuru

Peru
> COCLA
São Tomé and Príncipe
> AGUA IZÉ

Rwanda
> Sorwathe S.A.R.L.
Tanzania
> Kibena
> RSTGA
Uganda
> Igara
> Kayonza
> Mabale
> Mpanga

Coffee
Cameroon
> MACEFCOOP
Costa Rica
> COOCAFE
Dominican Republic
> FEDECARES
Haiti
> RECOCARNO
Mexico
> Union Majomut
> San Fernando
> Más Café
> CESMACH
> Huatusco
Nicaragua
> PRODECOOP
> CECOCAFEN
Peru
> CECOVASA
> COCLA
> C.A.C. San Juan Del Oro
> C.A.C. Bagua Grande
> CEPICAFE
> APROCASSI
> C.A.C. Frontera de San Ignacio
> C.A.C. La Prosperidad de Chirinos
> C.A.C. Pangoa
Rwanda
> Misozi
Tanzania
> KCU
> KNCU
> KDCU
Uganda
> Gumutindo
> ACPCU

What makes us different?
As a Fairtrade certified company, we:
>> Pay a guaranteed, minimum price to cover the cost of production
>> Pay an additional social premium for community projects
But this is just the beginning...
As Cafédirect, we also:
>>	Share the benefits: We invest at least 33% of our profits
into the grower organisations we partner with, 50% over
the last three years.
>>	Share the decisions: 2 growers sit on our Board and growers
themselves decide how the profit is spent.
>> S
 hare the risk: We train growers to boost quality, access new
markets and support them in adapting to climate change.
The result:
>>	An ethical and sustainable business that delivers award-winning
products, winning 10 Great Taste Awards in the last two years.

Cafédirect... we are the growers and you can taste it.

Grower letter

I am a coffee farmer from Más Café, a Cafédirect partner
since 2000. As a former Director, and in my current role as
Development Coordinator, I’ve seen significant changes in
the vegetation, the fauna and the way of life in my region.
When I would talk to my parents, grandparents, aunts and
uncles and others in the community about these changes, they
would always say that deforestation was the problem. But since
beginning the AdapCC project with Cafédirect and GTZ three
years ago, we have become much clearer about many of these
things that we see but didn’t understand.
Now we know that climate change and the greenhouse
effect are causing many of these changes. We understand
why we’re seeing more natural disasters, like hurricanes and
droughts, and cold and heat when we don’t expect them. We
also now realise that we can undertake activities that help
us to minimize these impacts. For example, we can capture
rainwater to keep our coffee trees healthy during times of little
rainfall. We can plant different varieties of shade trees that are
more resistant to the changing conditions. Most importantly,
we can re-learn how to live with nature.
Just as Cafédirect has invested in this project, others must
get involved because it’s not only the livelihood of the farmers
that’s at stake. As our crops suffer, we also see our children or
relatives looking for job opportunities outside our communities,
joining more and more people in crowded cities where it is
getting harder to coexist. We see that little by little our way
of life, coffee, is getting lost.

In conclusion, I can tell you that I understand now that
climate change is affecting our income, our culture and our
social life, and that we can take action to minimize these
impacts, but we must all act together and we have little time.
We have to seek out others that will follow the example of
Cafédirect, not only through words, but taking on and sharing
costs and experiences. We must promote this example of
family, our family, the Cafédirect family.
Trading coffee is not just a commercial transaction.
It underpins environmental sustainability and an entire way
of life. This connection between us, the producers, and you,
the consumers in the UK, is a powerful tool to improve
the way trade works.
Our best wishes for a more just and sustainable future,
beginning with this partnership between our organisations.

Elias Baldemar Ocampo Jiménez

Development Coordinator, Más Café

“This connection between us,
the producers, and you, the
consumers in the UK, is a
powerful tool to improve the
way trade works.”
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Cafédirect

challenged...
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Chairman Geoff Tudhope
learns about coffee growing
at KNCU in Tanzania

Chair’s message

Dear Shareholder
The past year has been a defining period for Cafédirect.
Would our pioneering distinctiveness shine through to
consumers amidst fierce discounting by many own-label
supermarket brands? Would we be able to sustain full support
for our producer partners? Would we be strong and nimble
enough to keep improving our own effectiveness and keep
pushing the boundaries for a fairer business world?
As you will read in this report, we tackled these challenges
with energy and passion. Although our sales and profits were
down, our social and environmental impacts were impressive
and we have maintained a strong balance sheet. Whilst we
wanted to achieve more, I believe this is a robust result given
the circumstances.
I would like to highlight two significant achievements:
the formation of the Cafédirect Producers Foundation (CPF)
and the evolution of our Gold Standard.
Following extensive dialogue with our producer
partners, we have agreed a progressive step-change in our
partnership where the overall responsibility for investment in
and management of producer projects has transferred from
Cafédirect to CPF, an organisation 100% owned and controlled
by growers themselves. CPF has been granted charitable
status, enhancing its ability to raise funds from third parties
as well as Cafédirect. General Manager and Programme
Coordinator roles have also been created and filled.
You will note we will have two new producer directors
on the Board of Cafédirect plc in 2010. Andrew Ethuru, from
Michimikuru in Kenya, has succeeded Raymond Kimaro from
December 2009. Álvaro Gómez from COOCAFE in Costa Rica
will succeed Raúl del Águila from June 2010. Raymond and
Raúl have been a source of constant support and wise counsel
for many years. Now that they have served their agreed terms
in office, we are sad to see them leave, but extend a warm
welcome to Andrew and Álvaro and look forward to the new
influences they will bring.
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Together with the Guardians, who ensure that we continue
to serve our mission, we have jointly revised our Gold Standard
over the past year. The Gold Standard is our compass,
outlining what we stand for and serving as the backdrop to
measure our impact as a business. You will see in this annual
report that it has been simplified whilst retaining the core spirit
of the original Gold Standard. The environmental theme is now
both more holistic and fully integrated into all that we do.
Finally, you will note this Annual Report covers 15 months,
as agreed at the 2009 AGM, to enable us to report in future
on an annual calendar basis.
I hope you will be excited by our achievements despite
the difficult UK economy. Thank you for your support.

Geoff Tudhope

Chairman, Cafédirect plc

CEO’s message

Dear Shareholder
2009 has been a tough year in a challenging economic
environment. With our sales down, we laid the groundwork
for a stronger future with simpler, clearer business operations.
These actions have helped us stay profitable and, equally
as important, we are proud to have maintained our financial
support for growers while strengthening our social and
environmental programmes.
Firstly we moved office in January, to an old bank printworks
(still in the Old Street area of London). This much improved
environment has allowed us to strengthen our focus on coffee
and tea quality and excellence, opening up our doors to
our customers, supporters and everyone who is part of the
Cafédirect family.
The momentous Cafédirect Producers conference was held
in March 2009 and was a vibrant, exciting experience for all
of us. There, the grower-run Cafédirect Producers Foundation
was born, a true example of producer empowerment. All of the
producers were involved in discussing how the “We are the
growers and you can taste it” campaign could come to life
for the brand re-launch in May.
We made two key decisions to build our in-house
capability. By June, we had recruited and installed our new
retail sales team. This gave us a clearer commercial focus and
allowed us to build stronger relationships with key customers,
including reaching out beyond trading and into their Corporate
Social Responsibility departments. By the end of the year we
had also decided that our close relationship with Twin Trading
needed to evolve so that we could have an even more direct
coffee procurement operation in-house. From March 2010, our
new coffee procurement team has been roasting, tasting and
confirming the quality of samples from all our origins in our
office in Scrutton Street. The team is led by Paul Perezgrovas,
who formerly worked for COMPRAS, one of our longstanding
coffee partners in Mexico. We hope you will come and
experience the heavenly aroma.
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The Cafédirect difference was exemplified in 2009 with the
pioneering AdapCC programme to support small farmers in
adapting to climate change. In November, I had the privilege
of experiencing the most phenomenal visit to see the results
of this Cafédirect/GTZ partnership in the Michimikuru tea
region in Kenya. We are proud that this work is demonstrating
that Cafédirect is leading the sustainability agenda, as
indicated by the media coverage it has spurred. We have
even been invited to share our work with the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) Nairobi
Work Programme, as well as input into the work that many
multinationals and retailers are now investigating in this area.
I would like to thank you for supporting Cafédirect in these
challenging times. We are confident that after a difficult year we
are a stronger organisation, more relevant than ever. We look
forward to your support as we build further growth and impact
into Cafédirect together.

Anne MacCaig

Chief Executive, Cafédirect plc

Anne MacCaig visits a local primary
school during her trip to our tea partner
Kiegoi in Kenya.

Growing

in new ways
Living up to our Gold Standard | Cafédirect PLC

We are
grower focused
in all we do
We integrate
environmental
action into the
way we operate
We strive to be
an inspirational
and accountable
business
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This year’s Annual Report not only brings you the
round up of Cafédirect’s activities from the past
year*, but is also the culmination of a process to
renew our Gold Standard commitments and to begin
a new phase of reporting our progress against them.

GROWER FOCUSED

Our Gold Standard

1

2

We hope you enjoy this year’s report and please send us any feedback
you have. Our contact details are on the back cover, or you can email us at
info@cafedirect.co.uk.

3
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ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

Cafédirect has changed its financial year-end from September to
December. Due to this change, this Annual Report covers a 15 month
period from 1 October 2008 to 31 December 2009. From 2010 we will
report on an annual calendar basis.

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

also identified some indicators that can help us
measure how well we’re meeting our commitments.
Beginning with next year’s Annual Report, we will
plot our progress not only with stories and images,
but also with the data we are collecting on these
indicators over 2010. As it will be our first year of
collecting such data, there’s no doubt it will be a
learning process. That said, we hope it will not only
provide us with the information we need to improve
the way our business works, but will provide you,
as shareholders, with transparent and tangible
evidence of the financial, social and environmental
impact that your investment in Cafédirect is helping
to deliver.

Throughout this year, we’ve been working with
our Guardians (made up of representatives from
Oxfam, Twin Trading, Equal Exchange, Traidcraft
and Cafédirect Producers Ltd) and Board to
update our Gold Standard. Its new form reflects
the evolving challenges we face in the market and
expresses in a shorter and sharper way what
makes Cafédirect unique.
Similar to last year’s report, the sections that
follow correlate with the main divisions of our
Gold Standard. Each section begins by stating
our commitments in that area. We then highlight
specific examples in more detail, providing the
stories and images you’ve come to expect from
us. While renewing our Gold Standard, we’ve

1
 rower
G
focused

in all we do
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Our Gold Standard commitments:

We invest at least one third of our profits
into a grower-led programme which
supports the growers’ businesses so that
they can become stronger and more
sustainable in their own right.

2
ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

We pay a price that recognises the cost
and sustainability of production.

GROWER FOCUSED

We work directly with smallholder
growers through long-term partnerships
which seek to reduce the disproportionately
high risks they face in the global market,
increase value at origin and strengthen
their voice in the company’s operations.

1

3
ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS
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Grower focused in all we do

Breakdown of Producer Partnership
Programme (PPP) impact areas
PPP
impact area

Cafédirect
profits
invested

Selected
achievements

Governance &
Compliance

£51,922

2 FLO** suspended partners regained certification
8 coffee partners utilise new governance tools

Management &
Operations

£155,179

18 coffee partners utilised price risk management tools
14 coffee & 4 tea partners utilised decision-making tools
11 coffee partners developed/updated strategic plans

Quality Improvement

£27,221

9 tea partners maintained the HACCP*** food safety certification

Environmental
Initiatives

£113,441

3 coffee and 1 tea partner have developed and implemented adaptation strategies

Networking &
Joint Learning

£29,572

2 coffee partners jointly entered 5 new markets and gained 8 new customers

New
Opportunities

£2,423

1 cocoa partner has achieved the legal status necessary to export cocoa
2 smallholder organisations have been FLO certified

Linking Producers and
Consumers & Impact
Assessment

£46,521

37 partners have visited London
100% partners participated in Cafédirect events
External evaluation carried out including face-to-face workshops in 3 countries
(covering 50% of partners) and a survey with an 80% response rate

Strengthening Cafédirect
Producers Limited (CPL)

£142,861

5 existing Cafédirect partners have become new members of CPL
95% of partners participated in the CPL conference in London

PPP Management

£52,003

Management fees within industry-standard 13% of programme cost

SUB-TOTAL

£621,144

A decrease of 8% from 2007-08

Additional Funds

£659,825

Additional funds were raised by Cafédirect and PPP partners Twin and Imani

TOTAL

£1,280,969

A decrease of 6% from 2007-08

% of PPP budget by Impact Area

*For comparison purposes, this table covers
a 12 month period between 1 Oct 2008 - 30 Sept 2009
**FLO = Fairtrade Labelling Organisations International

***HACCP = Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points
 overnance & Compliance (8%)
G
Management & Operations (25%)
Quality Improvement (4%)
Environmental initiatives (18%)
networking & joint learning (5%)
 new opportunities (1%)
Linking producers and consumers & impact assessment (8%)
Strengthening cafédirect producers ltd (cpl) (23%)
PPP management (8%)
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GROWER FOCUSED

Renewal on the board:
This year we laid the groundwork to welcome two new
Producer Board Directors, who will take the lead role in
representing the views of producers within our business.
We’ve also welcomed a new Company Secretary and
Guardian Director.

Álvaro Gómez

Stuart Raistrick

Living up to our Gold Standard | Cafédirect PLC

Raymond Kimaro

Raúl del Águila

Tim Morgan

John Shaw

2
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Andrew
Kobia Ethuru

Costa Rica, Álvaro trained as an accountant and has
a long history of assisting co-operatives to become
thriving businesses.
Álvaro believes the Cafédirect Board brings a
complementary set of skills and experiences to the
business and he’s looking forward to learning “about
the effort that many people make to succeed in the
market”. One of the biggest challenges he sees facing
the company is managing the “era of change where
we have to analyse the validity of everything we’re
doing and help the business grow, but most importantly
make it sustainable. This is crucial given the new
market challenges.”
The excitement around welcoming Andrew and
Álvaro to the Board is matched with a bittersweet
goodbye to our outgoing Producer Board members
Raymond Kimaro and Raúl del Águila, who have
completed their terms of service, and to Company
Secretary Stuart Raistrick, who has retired. Stuart has
been replaced by Tim Morgan, the former Guardian
Director, a role tasked with representing the views of
our Guardians Oxfam, Equal Exchange, Traidcraft,
Twin Trading and Cafédirect Producers Ltd. The new
Guardian Director is John Shaw, formerly Finance
and Information Systems Director at Oxfam.

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

Capt. (Rtd) Andrew Kobia Ethuru joined the
Board in December 2009. Trained as an engineer,
Andrew spent many years in the Kenyan military before
entering the tea business. A farmer himself, he worked
for a multinational tea company before becoming the
non-executive Director and Chairman of the Premium
Committee for the Michimikuru Tea Growers’ Factory
in Meru, Kenya. Michimikuru has been a Cafédirect
partner since 2007.
Speaking of his new role as a Cafédirect Board
member, Andrew explained “When people give their
trust to you, like they did in my case, you are obliged
not to let them down. I am therefore proud to be
associated with Cafédirect. This of course has the
challenge to be part and parcel of the team and to drive
further growth and profitability in the business. I look
forward to seeing even closer partnership between
producers and Cafédirect, and this translating into more
understanding for both parties to benefit.”
Álvaro Gómez is finishing his induction to the Board
and will formally take up his position in June 2010. He
is the General Manager of the COOCAFE co-operative
in Costa Rica, one of the three original organisations
whose coffee Cafédirect first sold in 1991. With 31
years of experience in the co-operative movement in

Grower focused in all we do

Doing our homework
on what works best
As a social enterprise, we are committed to doing business
differently and seeking third-party verification where appropriate.
Independent assessment played a key role in the development
and sign off of a new Producer Partnership Programme (PPP)
strategy for 2010 – 2012.
During late 2008, we
hired Dr. Eberhardt Gohl
from the independent
consultancy firm Impact
Plus to lead a team of
international experts to
comprehensively assess
our PPP. The final report highlighted
the significant achievements of the
PPP and also recommended areas
for improvement.

Strengths included:
• Uniqueness: The holistic approach
and tailored support of the PPP make
it unique.
• Relevance: Grower organisations
in developing countries benefit
from strengthening their capacity as
profitable businesses in their own right.
• Effectiveness: The PPP contributes to
impressive outcomes, such as active
participation of members, team work,
efficient management and improved
production and quality.
• A personal approach: Direct
relationships with grower organisations
build feelings of true partnership
versus a conventional buyer-supplier
relationship.

Areas for improvement included:
• Increased information flow:
Grower partners want to understand
more about the scope of services
offered and the distribution
of the benefits of the PPP.
• Peer to peer advice: Networks
should be set up to increase peer
to peer communication which will
facilitate continuous exchange and
joint learning.
• Grower management of the
programme: The decision-making
power and management of the
programme should rest with the
grower organisations themselves
as opposed to Cafédirect or the
PPP implementers.
• Grower ownership of impact
measurement: Indicators should be
chosen and progress reported by the
grower organisations themselves.

The evaluation and recommendations were presented at the
Cafédirect Producers conference in March and formed a key input
into the discussions regarding how the PPP will evolve in the future.
See pg. 14 for more on these changes.
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Some of the most important
events of our year occurred
over two weeks in March when
37 producer representatives
from 11 countries arrived in
London to add their perspective,
suggestions and critique to
key debates.

1
GROWER FOCUSED

March madness

Producer representatives
and staff exchange ideas
at the Marketing workshop
held at Cafédirect’s office
in March

2

3
ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS
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added their own thoughts and ideas into the mix.
This session provided new ideas for the pack
designs and advertising campaigns.
Jacquie Bance, Cafédirect Head of
Communications, commented on the experience:
“It was a real privilege to work with the growers
to develop the “We are the growers and you can
taste it” marketing campaign. Their passion for
their businesses was infectious and the sessions
produced lively discussion with the producers,
all keen to tell us their individual tips for growing
quality tea, coffee and cocoa. It was an incredible
workshop to be a part of and an opportunity to
get even closer to the expertise required to create
such quality products.”
Álvaro Gómez, General Manager of the
COOCAFE coffee co-operative added “I found
the workshop to be an enriching experience. The
marketing team shared their strategy to reach out
to the UK market and I came away with confidence
that the team would succeed.”

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

The first big event was Cafédirect’s Annual General
Meeting, held on 27 March at LSO Saint Luke’s
in London. It was undoubtedly an exciting and
inspiring event as shareholders had the chance to
mingle with the people their investment in Cafédirect
supports. After a morning of presentations and
voting on resolutions, there were a series of
afternoon breakout sessions designed to offer
more insight into Cafédirect’s work. Attendees
had the chance to learn about how producers are
adapting to climate change as part of AdapCC
(see pgs. 26-27), to take a farm-to-cup tour of the
coffee and tea lifecycle, and to learn about our
dedicated group of supporters called ‘Friends of
Cafédirect’. With around 150 people attending in
total, it was an unforgettable day.
Next came an interactive workshop where
the Cafédirect Marketing team shared its plans
for the upcoming year and quizzed producer
representatives on the ins and outs of growing and
selling their crops. Producer representatives then

Grower focused in all we do

From investment
to empowerment
During the Cafédirect Producers conference in March, the group
discussed one of the most significant evolutions of Cafédirect’s
business model since its beginning in 1991: passing on the
decision-making power for how Cafédirect’s profits are invested
from Cafédirect to the producer groups themselves.

PRODECOOP General Manager Merling Preza shares
her thoughts with the group during the conference.
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The process to arrive at this decision
was a true example of how Cafédirect
does business differently. First the
producer representatives gathered for
their own Cafédirect Producers AGM,
where they democratically elected
new Board Directors and proposed
representatives to sit on the Cafédirect
Board. From there, they opened up the
forum to the Cafédirect Board and staff,
Producer Partnership Programme (PPP)
partners and supply chain partners to
discuss the challenges and opportunities
of Cafédirect’s unique business
model. Special thanks go to Keith
Spicer, Bewley’s and ACC/SEDA, who
supported the Conference financially
as well as being active participants.
Dr. Eberhardt Gohl, who led the
independent review of the PPP, also
shared his recommendations for how to
improve Cafédirect’s PPP (see pg.12).
With all this feedback, the group were
tasked with agreeing a new 3-year PPP
strategy to be implemented by each of
the producer groups from 2010 – 2012.

These discussions provided valuable
input and ideas for Cafédirect and
Cafédirect Producers to incorporate
in the future. While at times there was
heated debate due to the variety of
perspectives, opinions and cultures
present, at the end of the two days
the group agreed a way forward.
Perhaps more importantly,
the new PPP strategy was agreed
through a process of engagement
that truly represented the unique
partnership approach of the
Cafédirect business model.

A year ago, Agua Izé were selling
low-value wet cocoa to intermediaries
who would then sell it on at a higher
price. Over 2009, they have made
huge strides forward in acquiring both
the skills and the tools necessary to
produce, sell and export higher value
dry, fermented cocoa themselves. The
farmers have been trained to ferment
their cocoa in ready-built “fermentation
houses” over 7 days, then to dry it on
newly purchased drying tables. This is
a crucial step to produce export quality
cocoa. They’ve also purchased vehicles
and warehouses to store the cocoa
before export. Now legally incorporated
into a co-operative, the organisation
secured its first contract and recently
exported its first container of cocoa.
As Agua Izé is not yet Fairtrade
certified, Cafédirect cannot buy any
of this cocoa. However, pending
successful certification in 2010, the
co-operative can begin selling to
Cafédirect and other Fairtrade buyers.
Anjulipe Silva, a cocoa farmer from the
Claudino Faro Association, one of the
11 primary co-operatives, says “It has
been good to see the building going

on. With this project, the future will
now be better for our members. Our
whole community will have an improved
livelihood.”
This story exemplifies the role
that Cafédirect can play in supporting
small producers to get more value
from the supply chain and to access
new markets that were previously out
of reach.
The first phase of the project
was achieved with the support of
the International Fund for Agricultural
Development (IFAD) and the
government of Sao Tomé. In addition
to these investments, the project
has also successfully received funds
from the Department for International
Development (DFID) as part of its Food
Retail Industry Challenge Fund (FRICH)
to bring innovative African products
to the UK market. By working with
partners like IFAD and DFID, a small but
influential Cafédirect can have a much
greater impact than it otherwise would.
Be sure to check our website to see
where you can find Agua Izé’s cocoa
in 2010!

2
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Last year we introduced
a new partner, the Agua
Izé cocoa co-operative in
São Tomé and Príncipe,
the second smallest
country in Africa.
Cafédirect have been
working there since
2008 to assist cocoa
farmers in 11 local
communities to reap
more value from the
cocoa they grow.

GROWER FOCUSED

An update from Africa’s “chocolate island”

1
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Grower focused in all we do

Strengthening the
influence of producers
While Cafédirect works
to strengthen the voice
of producers within our
own company, those
voices must also be
heard in wider circles.
Some of the profits
that we invest assist
producer groups to
participate in wider
debates that directly
affect them.

The changes currently being undertaken
by the Fairtrade Labelling Organisations
International (FLO), the governing body
of Fairtrade, are a perfect example. With
more big players entering the Fairtrade
market (for example Starbucks and
Cadbury), the voices of the smallholder
producer organisations that Fairtrade
was set up to support must ring loud and
clear. National and regional smallholder
networks such as the African Fairtrade
Network (AFN), the Central and Latin
American and Caribbean Network of
Small Fairtrade producers (CLAC), and
the Fairtrade Network of Asian Producers
(NAP) can play a key role.

Fairtrade Labelling Organisations International
(FLO) is the umbrella body that governs national
initiatives like the UK Fairtrade Foundation.
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This year Cafédirect’s PPP investment
supported the development and
strengthening of two of these networks
that focus on smallholder Fairtrade
producers. The money invested was
used to develop successful proposals
for the CLAC and the AFN to obtain
additional funding for internal capacity
building. CLAC, for example, will use the
funds to hire an executive coordinator
and to study how small farmers can deal
with declining coffee yields. In addition,
the PPP investment funded a producer
representative to participate on the FLO
strategic task force, which decides on
the evolution of FLO policy, and assisted
the AFN to negotiate with FLO over the
creation of new traceability standards
for tea.

1

Cafédirect’s producer
support programme
assists organisations
in seeking out new
markets for their
products. Dependence
on just one buyer, even
one like Cafédirect,
is risky business.

KNCU’s coffee goes into:

Mpanga’s tea goes into:

Classics Medium Roast
Freeze-dried Instant

Classics Decaffeinated
Organic Freeze-dried Instant

Everyday Tea

Classics Decaffeinated
Organic Freeze-dried Instant

Kilimanjaro Fresh Ground
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Gumutindo’s coffee goes into:

2
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Mpanga General Manager Rogers Siima speaking
at Cafédirect’s 2009 AGM.

This year, two of our East African coffee “Working with Cafédirect goes
partners, KNCU and Gumutindo, gained
beyond trade as Cafédirect
a total of eight new customers in five
is so much interested in the
new markets. This accomplishment
well being of the producer
came about because the groups
organisation and its members.”
worked together to take advantage of
an emerging interest in special origin
our Ugandan partners have used the
coffees from the region. The two groups
marketing training they received as part
developed a joint marketing strategy
of the PPP to formulate plans to grow a
to increase their sales by identifying
local market for their tea. Rogers Siima,
joint sales targets, attending trade fairs
General Manager at Mpanga Growers
together and having regular meetings.
Tea Factory adds “This year Mpanga
As they also contributed their own funds
benefitted from exploring new markets
into the pot, their commitment to the
and has been able to sell two containers
success of the work was steadfast.
to Pakistan. The PPP also carried out
KNCU Chairman Maynard Swai
a study on the possibility of the four
explains “Our Joint Marketing Initiative
smallholder factories of Uganda forming
has proved wonders for KNCU and
a joint brand to improve our local market.
Gumutindo. Not only are we doing
Out of this, the factories have set a
business with eight new customers,
common vision and are looking at the
but the increased income from higher
various possibilities of working together.
sales prices means more benefit for
Working with Cafédirect goes beyond
our growers.”
trade as Cafédirect is so much interested
Our East African tea partners have
also successfully found new buyers in other in the well being of the producer
organisation and its members.”
markets, such as Poland, Pakistan, Dubai
and South Africa. More specifically,

GROWER FOCUSED

New customers
and new markets

Grower focused in all we do

Sustainable tea farming in Africa
The profits we invest back into the organisations we trade
with fund programmes that are tailored to the needs of the
individual groups. In the case of our tea partner, the Eastern
Produce Kenya – Outgrower Empowerment Programme
(EPK-OEP), a key priority was educating farmers on how
to boost their food security.
Because many tea farmers in Africa do not also grow
subsistence crops, any change in the tea price has a big
effect on the earnings they use to feed themselves and their
families. This means any alternative source of income is
incredibly valuable. EPK-OEP Chair Mr. Wilson Tuwei explains,
“Farmers are taking the money from tea and doing other
things. By diversifying they will be better off than just growing
tea, because at the end of the day, when the prices of tea
aren’t favourable, they have something to fall back on”.
Cafédirect’s PPP team trained EPK-OEP staff on how to
teach farmers to save money, manage a budget and invest
their earnings from tea into other income-generating activities,
such as growing beans, sweet potatoes and bananas to eat

or sell locally. Dairy farming is another popular alternative
as it provides both milk and meat. According to Wilson, the
farmers are quite happy with the results. “They have been
taught to monitor this money, which means it is saved. The
staff has trained almost 5,000 farmers since October 2009”.
While most tea buying companies would not invest profit
to support tea farmers to grow other crops, Cafédirect’s
business model looks at the bigger picture of sustainability,
including the financial, social and environmental issues for
farmers. A farmer must be able to cope with the ever changing
market prices for tea and still feed his or her family. EPK-OEP
and Cafédirect are working to make that possible.

EPK-OEP’s tea goes into:

Everyday Tea

Cafédirect Supply Chain Assistant Emmanuelle Le
Drian (far right) brings a group of our tea partners
to Keith Spicer Ltd. to see how their tea is tasted
and blended. EPK-OEP Chair Wilson Tuwei is second
from left.
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CAC Pangoa General Manager Esperanza
Dionisio at the co-operative’s offices in Peru.

CAC Pangoa’s coffee goes into:

Medium, Rich,
Decaffeinated and
Espresso Fresh Ground
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In the case of our coffee partner CAC Pangoa,
located just over the Andes from Lima, Peru,
their Board members and middle managers are
all smallholder farmers and wanted support in
understanding the way money flows in and out
of their organisation.
Cafédirect’s Producer Partnership Programme
(PPP) worked with a local accountant to assist 22
CAC Pangoa leaders to tally their individual assets,
including their houses, farm land and vehicles,
and then their liabilities, such as any outstanding
debts. With these in mind, the individuals were
able to assess the full picture of their own personal
finances and then apply that model to understand
the finances of the wider co-operative.
Pangoa’s General Manager, Esperanza Dionisio,
says the workshop “was incredibly important in
order for the leaders to understand the benefit
of the business in terms of the income that their
work to produce and sell coffee brings in. This
exercise helps the managers to understand the
larger financial balance of the co-operative.” Their
improved understanding equips them to pass on
that knowledge to the other farmer members of
the co-operative. This is crucial so that each
member understands the benefits of selling his
or her coffee to the co-operative as opposed to the
many ‘coyotes’, or middle-men, that compete with
the co-operative to purchase the coffee harvest.

3
ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

Classics Medium Roast and
Classics Decaffeinated Organic
Freeze-dried Instant

2
ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

The international coffee market
is made up of a spectrum of players,
all with different strengths
and weaknesses. From large
multinational roasters and coffee
traders to co-operatives made
up of smallholder farmers, each
brings varying levels of capital,
influence, values and connections
to the farmers themselves.

GROWER FOCUSED

The importance of accounting

1

2
Integrated

environmental
action
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Our Gold Standard commitments:

We collaborate with our processing partners
across our supply chain and use our influence
to incentivise the highest environmental
performance and to spur innovation.
We use our business model to encourage
responsible consumption.

Living up to our Gold Standard | Cafédirect PLC

3
ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

We take full responsibility to measure
and reduce the negative impacts under
our control.

2
ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

In our work with smallholder growers,
we encourage environmentally sustainable
production, support the positive impact they
have on the environment and strengthen
their ability to adapt to climate change.

GROWER FOCUSED

We seek to understand the positive
and negative environmental impacts
of all aspects across our supply chain,
from grower to consumer.

1

Integrated environmental action

Targets

This has been no easy task, as our supply chain is complex.
It includes 40 producer groups in 14 countries, our processing
partners in Europe, our offices in London and the consumers
who drink Cafédirect products in their homes, but also in
workplaces, hotels, universities and other out-of-home venues.
Because we are not a large corporation that controls all,
or even most, of the supply chain, perhaps our biggest
challenge is that we actually have very little control over the
areas with the biggest environmental impact. That said, we
do have influence in these areas and we have committed to
using it to address the impact head on.
The strategy is laid out in 5 sections that correspond
to the five environmental commitments of the Gold Standard
(see pg. 21). Beneath each commitment, you’ll find the
activities we are (or will be) undertaking, followed by any
targets we’ve set.

Activities

Over the last year, Cafédirect has
developed a comprehensive 3-year
environmental strategy covering
every aspect of our supply chain,
from producer to consumer.

Gold Standard
commitment

(or KPI’s where 2010 is our baseline)

Taking our
environmental
commitment
seriously

22/23

Annual Report 2008/09

Understanding
Complete a 2009 carbon
footprint and sustainability
hot spot assessment
Publish the data externally
Embed understanding of our
environmental impact across
the business

100% of staff report an
increased understanding
of our environmental impact
in 2010
50% of staff report
considering environmental
impact in decision-making
in 2010

1
1 of 4 areas agreed with
grower partners for PPP
investment focuses on
sustainable environmental
management and climate
change adaptation
Build upon the success of
AdapCC with other Cafédirect
partners

Supply Chain
collaboration

Responsible
consumption

Reduce the carbon impact of
processing our products

Educate consumers about
the impact and what they can
do to address it

Integrate environmental
impact reporting into
contracts
Influence our partners to
improve environmental
performance across the
supply chain

Work with Foodservice
partners to reduce the impact
of consumption in out-ofhome venues

Impacts under
our control
Reduce energy use in our
office
Sign off a green travel policy
Become a leader in
sustainable packaging
Address waste in out-of-home
venues, e.g. disposable cups

Support sustainable
production through our own
purchasing power and other
bespoke projects

2
Reduce the absolute carbon
emissions from processing by
an average of 15% by 2013
(based on 2009)

Pilot one partnership in
2010 to reduce the impact
of energy consumption from
consumer kettle boiling

% Volumes purchased that is
certified organic

100% of contracts require
information provision on
environmental impacts
by 2011

Pilot one project in 2011 to
reduce the impact of energy
consumption in Foodservice
venues

At least 1 case study per year
of improved environmental
performance due to Cafédirect
influence

10% reduction in office energy
use and sourcing 100%
renewable energy in 2010
Green travel policy in place
in 2010
By the end of 2012, 100% of
our packaging will be easily
recyclable or compostable
Reduce our overall packaging
by an average of 15% by
2015 (based on 2009)
Pilot a scheme in 2010 to
avoid / recycle / compost
disposable cups
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By the end of 2012, all point
of sale material will be made
from environmentally-friendly
materials

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

% of PPP spend allocated to
sustainable environmental
management and climate
change adaptation

Value of Cafédirect
contribution to projects that
directly support sustainable
production

GROWER FOCUSED

Smallholder
Growers

Integrated environmental action

2009 Carbon footprint
We conducted our first ever carbon footprint in 2005. This year,
with the ongoing support of our partner, Forum for the Future,
we completed a bigger and better footprint that exemplifies how
we do business: not limiting our view to those parts we control,
but seeing the bigger picture with an eye to improving the whole.
The footprint covers our entire range of products and includes
carbon emissions coming from growing crops, transporting the
raw material, processing it, packaging it, consuming the final
product (both in and out-of-home), and disposing of any waste.
The graph below shows the carbon emissions per cup of some
of our most popular products, followed by explanations of three
important findings and what we’re doing to address each.

1. The carbon intensity of processing our coffee,
tea and cocoa is high, especially decaffeination and
freeze-drying.
In response, we’ve set ourselves a target to reduce the
absolute carbon emissions from processing our products
by an average of 15% by 2015, based on our 2009 baseline.
Because we don’t own the factories ourselves, any progress
will be made by working in collaboration with the companies
that process our products. It’s a difficult challenge, especially
given the fact that some of our partners are already taking
welcome steps to reduce the impact of their operations.

by product
EmmissionsEmissions
across key products
0.07

Consuming

kg C02 per cup

0.06

Storage &
Distribution

0.05
Packaging
(End of Life)

0.04

Packaging
(Creation)

0.03

Processing

0.02

Shipping to
Europe

0.01
0
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Producers
R&G:
Medium Roast
227g
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R&G:
Decaf Medium
227g

FD:
Classic Blend
100g

FD:
Decaf Organic
100g

Everyday
Tea
80 bags

Everyday
Tea Decaf
80 bags

Office Impacts (1%)
Tea Footprint (36%)
Coffee Footprint (57%)
Cocoa Footprint (6%)

3
Office Impacts (1%)
Tea Footprint (36%)
Coffee Footprint (57%)
Cocoa Footprint (6%)
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ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

3. Contrary to what you may expect, relative
to other parts of the supply chain, the carbon
emissions from shipping our coffee, tea and cocoa,
Company
footprint
from making and disposing 2009
of our
packaging,
and
from all our office operations (including flights and
electricity usage) are relatively minimal. As the pie
chart opposite shows, our office operations are
hardly visible in the overall footprint for our supply
chain in 2009!

2009 Company footprint – based on sales
2009 Company footprint

1

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

2. The majority of the carbon emissions in a cup
of our coffee or tea (drunk either in the home or
out-of-home) comes from the consumption stage!
This means from putting the kettle on and, more
significantly, from powering the espresso machine.
Our data show that on average 72% of the carbon
is emitted at this stage, which means consumers and
out-of-home venues have the power to minimise those
emissions.
In response, we’re educating our consumers about
this through channels like our website and blog, and we
also have a message on all our packaging reminding
consumers to ‘only boil as much water as you need’.
This is one of the easiest ways to reduce the carbon
emissions from your cuppa. Others include purchasing
a kettle that makes it easy to measure the amount of
water you need, and switching to 100% renewable energy
for your home or workplace. We also hope to pilot an
energy efficiency project with some out-of-home venues
in 2011.

That said, we’re still committed to doing what we can
to reduce these impacts. Within the walls of our office,
we started 2010 by making the switch to sourcing
100% renewable energy from Ecotricity.
Regarding shipping, we have made continual
efficiency improvements in recent years, all of which
result in small reductions in carbon emissions. This year
we cut out one of the port stops in our coffee supply
chain, consolidated our cocoa processing into one
factory and negotiated only full-truck deliveries to one
of our distributors. These may sound like small steps,
but they all add up.
Packaging is a high priority for our consumers,
so we have set two ambitious goals to both reduce
the overall amount of packaging we use, and to choose
more environmentally-friendly materials. By 2015, we
aim to reduce our overall packaging by an average of
15% based on our 2009 baseline. We also want all of
our packaging, including the outer casing, to be 100%
recyclable or compostable by 2012. See pgs. 22-23
for more on our 3-year environmental strategy.

GROWER FOCUSED

For example, the company that freeze-dries our coffee
not only powers much of the energy hungry process
by burning spent coffee grounds, but they’re also
experimenting with other ways to use the grounds.
Kevan Elsby, Technical Manager at our processing
partner SEDA/ACC, explains “We burn most of our
waste coffee material in boilers to produce steam and
electricity and we export electricity to the national grid
in Spain during periods of peak demand. We also send
some of our waste material to be converted into methane
and animal feed through a process called anaerobic
digestion. We regularly strive for routes to further reduce
the footprint of Cafédirect’s instant coffees.”

Integrated environmental action

AdapCC: a model for adaptation
In the last two Annual Reports we described the pioneering
work of AdapCC, our public-private partnership with the German
Technical Cooperation (GTZ) and four of our grower partners.
After three years of assisting smallholder tea and coffee farmers
to adapt the climate change, what has it achieved?
After the research and strategy development stages outlined
in prior reports, this year held perhaps the most exciting stage
of AdapCC: implementation of the adaptation strategies.
The four pilot groups in Kenya, Mexico, Peru and Nicaragua
have now put into action the plans they developed, and the
results have been inspiring. The images below give you a taste
of the unique approaches each group is taking, along with
some of the impressive statistics about the impact on
the ground.
In the final phase of AdapCC, we have taken stock of
our successes and challenges, shared lessons learnt and
strengthened the networks that have been built and that will
help this important work continue into the future.

Crop diversification in Kenya:
Tea farmers sell their tea crop to feed themselves and their
families. If climate change damages the crop and that income
drops, their food security is threatened. Fifteen demonstration
plots at Michimikuru are teaching farmers to plant subsistence
crops like kale and spinach, as well as diversifying into cash
crops like passion fruit.
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An intergovernmental body called the Regional Unit for
Technical Assistance (RUTA), based in San José, Costa Rica,
is using AdapCC as a model to develop climate change
adaptation strategies across Central America. In Kenya, the
Ministry of Agriculture is considering how the methodologies
of AdapCC can assist small farmers across Kenya to adapt
to climate change. Similarly, the Mexican government’s
environment agency, SEMARNAT, is taking up AdapCC’s
work to link the livelihoods of coffee farmers to schemes
that actually pay farmers for the environmental services their
farms provide to the ecosystem. Robert Dilger, Environmental
Policy Consultant at RUTA adds “AdapCC has contributed to
a better understanding of the importance of involving local
actors in successful adaptation. The methodology used was

Fuel efficient stoves in Kenya and Mexico:
There is high demand for fuel wood to cook and heat homes in
both Kenya and Mexico. This demand leads to local deforestation,
which in turn makes communities more vulnerable to climate
change. Using energy saving stoves like this one in Kenya not only
cuts wood usage by 30-70%, but also improves the health of the
people doing the cooking and lightens the backbreaking work of
gathering wood.

1
GROWER FOCUSED

2
Workshops for farmers in Peru:
At CEPICAFE in Peru, farmers were eager to understand how
climate change was affecting their crops, and so far, 872 coffee
farmers have been trained on how to use sustainable farming
techniques to manage those impacts.

ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

highly participative and resulted in the merging of academicscientific evidence with local knowledge. Because of this, we
are currently extending the project’s results and experiences
to the entire Central American region and to other economic
sectors. In this sense, the results from this public-private
partnership have become a model for solutions to reduce
climate vulnerability in a sector of high importance for
Central America: coffee.”
AdapCC has been making waves back home as well.
It’s been the focus of a host of articles in publications from
The Guardian to the Treehugger blog. The AdapCC staff
have even been contacted by the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change to contribute to its Nairobi
Work Programme, which seeks to bring together players from
the public and private sectors to share their commitments and
experiences around adaptation.
All four pilots have shown how smallholder farmers can
successfully adapt to climate change, and we look forward to
building on their achievements with other grower partners and
through the networks AdapCC has created. We are currently
looking for new investment to support us in these efforts.

3
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Communal composting in Nicaragua:
Coffee farmers in Nicaragua are boosting the health of their coffee
trees by applying organic compost that they make in a communal
worm-composting facility.

ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

Solar dryers in Mexico:
Coffee farmers depend on stable weather patterns to dry their
coffee harvest under the sun. Unexpected rains make this
impossible, so the farmers have built 30 demonstration solar dryers
to rain-proof the process and ensure their crop is ready to sell.

Integrated environmental action

Cepicafe reforestation
and adaptation scheme
One of the most exciting
offshoots from AdapCC
has been the creation of
a unique project to create
and sell carbon credits
that will help fund
adaptation strategies
among Peruvian coffee
farmers.

CEPICAFE
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Through their participation in AdapCC,
the farmers and staff at CEPICAFE,
located in Northern Peru, became
aware that the severely deforested land
around their coffee farms made them
more vulnerable to the effects of climate
change. Unpredictable and heavy rainfall
is one of the biggest changes they are
seeing and deforested land is much
more susceptible to landslides and
erosion. The flooding and landslides
that stranded thousands of people in
the area near Machu Picchu in January
2010 are prime examples of the events
that are becoming more frequent and
causing problems for local residents,
farmers and tourists alike.
One of CEPICAFE’s adaptation
strategies was to research the possibility
of generating carbon credits through the
reforestation of the local area. AdapCC
funded the necessary feasibility study,
which showed that the project had great
potential, and now a plan to reforest
285 hectares of deforested grassland
is underway. Overall the project will
capture over 36,000 tonnes of carbon
from the atmosphere over 23 years. The
resulting carbon credits will be sold on
the voluntary carbon market and 10%
of the income will go to fund adaptation
among the coffee farmers.
To get off the ground the project
needs up-front capital, so Cafédirect
is investing in the project early to help
the project attract additional funds. In
return for its investment of £55,000
over 6 years, Cafédirect will receive
5,000 carbon credits, each equivalent
to a tonne of carbon absorbed from the
atmosphere. We plan to use the credits
to offset the emissions from parts of our
business operations where avoiding or
reducing is not currently possible.

While voluntary carbon credits are both
a popular and often controversial topic
of debate, this project is unique
in that it is owned and managed by
local organisations of smallholder
farmers. Another key point of distinction
is that the income from the sale of the
carbon credits will partly be used to
fund adaptation activities among the
coffee farmers.
CEPICAFE General Manager José
Rojas adds “the generation of carbon
credits is an alternative source of income
that contributes to the conservation of
the local environment. The AdapCC
project opened the door to this new idea
of carbon credit sales which will help to
mitigate the effects of climate change
in the coffee growing area and also to
provide funds to continue the adaptation
activities we’ve begun with our farmers
over the last year.”

Cepicafe’s coffee goes into:

Classics Medium Roast
Freeze-dried Instant

Medium, Rich,
Decaffeinated &
Espresso Roast
Fresh Ground

1
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3

José Rojas, CEPICAFE General Manager
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Gathering seedlings from the
nursery before transporting them
to the areas to be reforested

ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

“The generation of
carbon credits is an
alternative source of
income that contributes
to the conservation of
the local environment.”

3
An inspirational and
accountable
business
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Our Gold Standard commitments:

As a public company and social enterprise, we conduct
business professionally and aim to deliver a strong social
return to our shareholders through additional support
to growers.
We engage all employees in Cafédirect’s mission and in
connections with our grower partners, and ensure they
achieve their full potential through continuous learning
and regular, transparent performance management.

We enable consumers to use their purchases to break
down anonymous trading relationships, increase awareness
of our global interdependence and to help balance inequities
in knowledge and power.

We publish our commitments, measure progress towards
them and report that progress simply and transparently,
including independent verification where appropriate.
Living up to our Gold Standard | Cafédirect PLC
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We communicate with stakeholders in an open, transparent
way, making contact easy, taking all input seriously and
responding honestly and promptly.

2
ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

With our roots in the fair trade movement, we seek out
partnerships with like-minded organisations, suppliers,
customers, individuals and investors who believe in the
power of trading fairly to create sustainable livelihoods,
and also with those for whom we can be a catalyst for
change toward these beliefs.

GROWER FOCUSED

We strive to be the most influential ethical business in
the UK, leading by example and inspiring positive change.

1

An inspirational and accountable business

The commercial challenges of 2009
The past 15 months brought a very
challenging market to the UK. The
impact of the global recession was
evident in a number of areas and we
had to take decisive action in how
we market and promote our products
in order to remain a sustainable
commercial business.

Pressure from our competitors has multiplied, through their
increased spending on advertising and increased promotions in
stores, often with more than half the hot beverage aisle running
concurrent discounts. The conversion by many supermarkets
of all or part of their own-label range to Fairtrade has further
increased our competition. For example, 62% of own-label tea
is now Fairtrade certified.* At the same time, the recession has
driven customers to trade down to cheaper own-label Fairtrade
options, especially those sold with deep discounts.
In June we had to increase prices on coffee to all
customers due to changes in commodity prices and foreign
exchange rates. This was a tough decision, as we must
keep our products competitively priced, so in turn we have
stepped up our own promotions. In September we also
began offering ‘extra free’ packs, which are starting to gain
momentum in stores.
The conundrum of exchange rates
Though Cafédirect operates mainly in the UK, earning
income in Pounds, we purchase our coffee, tea and cocoa
in Dollars and process some of it in Euros. Changes to the
value of these currencies can thus have a huge impact on
our business. While our competitors also face this challenge,
many can offset the changes across their global operations,
especially the large multinationals. For example, they may
earn Dollars as well as Pounds and may process outside
the Euro Zone.

“The theme of the new
packs is the connection
between smallholder
craftsmanship and our
award winning taste
and quality.”

* Source: Nielsen WE 23.01.10
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Re-launching our packaging during a recession was always
going to be difficult, and we didn’t get the execution spot-on.
Initial feedback showed that consumers were unable to find
the new packs, leading less loyal consumers to swap brand
whilst only loyal consumers persisted in searching for us.
In response, we developed a comprehensive
communications campaign to increase awareness of the new
packs. We labelled the instant coffee jars with special tags
that used the old designs to increase consumer recognition.
We also ran gardening competitions in 20 regional press
publications highlighting the tools on pack. A direct mailing
via post and a viral email were also sent to everyone on our
database with a discount voucher alongside images of the
new packs, encouraging consumers to find them in stores.
Finally, we’re increasing the prominence of our logo on the
packs to make sure it stands out on supermarket shelves.
Overall, research has shown that the new design does
indeed attract more consumers to try our products, and that
those who try us are likely to become loyal consumers. After
ironing out the executional creases, we’re confident that these
new packs, along with the strapline “We are the growers
and you can taste it” will be a winning formula.

GROWER FOCUSED

After starting the year with declining retail sales, the business
underwent a review to determine the key activities required
to reverse this trend. It was evident that we needed to more
clearly articulate Cafédirect’s point of difference to consumers.
We needed to show how our direct, long term relationships
with growers lead to superior taste and quality in our products.
From this need, our tagline, “We are the growers and you can
taste it” was born.
Our packaging is the most important opportunity to
express this unique relationship to consumers, so in May
we relaunched the entire range with a new design. The theme
of the new packs is the connection between smallholder
craftsmanship and our award-winning taste and quality. Our
new look features authentic tools used by the growers to tend
to their crops, and captures the pride and passion growers
put into producing high quality tea, coffee and cocoa. Each
pack also features a picture of and quote from the grower
who owns that tool.
As part of the packaging change, the three sub-brands
– Cafédirect, Teadirect and Cocodirect – were united under
one integrated brand. By bringing all our products under the
Cafédirect umbrella, we’re creating consistency across the
range, leveraging the power and loyalty of the parent brand.

3
ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS
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Bringing our brand to life in 2009
From print ads to festivals to coffee tastings,
Cafédirect’s presence was felt across the country.
Advertising:
Last summer, Cafédirect let the
growers do the talking in our print
and digital advertising. The ‘We are
the growers and you can taste it’
campaign was conceived with the input
of 37 representatives from Cafédirect’s
coffee, tea and cocoa partners from 11
countries who visited London in March
2009 (see page 13). The print ads
featured growers talking passionately
about tea, coffee and cocoa production
in their own languages with English
translations. They appeared in several
national newspaper weekend magazines
including the Sunday Times, Telegraph,
Daily Mail Weekend and the Observer
Food Monthly,

with a combined reach of over 14 million
people. Digital adverts appeared on
websites such as AOL, MSN and Yahoo
along with specialist food sites such as
BBC Good Food, UKTV Food and Delia.
This campaign heralded the
introduction of our brand line, ‘We
are the growers and you can taste it’,
which now appears on the website and
marketing materials. Head of Marketing
and Communications Nicola Pearson
explains, “Consumers increasingly want
to know the provenance of their food
and drink. We want them to understand
the passion our growers put into the
product and that dealing directly with the
growers means a better quality, tastier
product for the consumer.”

Choosing carefully at the Hay Festival stand.

Events:
During Fairtrade Fortnight 2009,
Cafédirect held TasteFair, a marathon
nine days of eco-lifestyle events to
stimulate the senses. The impressive
line-up of ‘eco’ celebrities and experts
included Wayne Hemingway and Oliver
Heath. In addition to food tastings,
music evenings and story telling, there
were daily ‘seed to cup’ sessions where
coffee lovers and novices alike learned
about coffee tasting. Guests had a
unique opportunity to hand-roast coffee
beans direct from Kilimanjaro under
the expert supervision of Amen Mtui,
a coffee “cupper” and quality expert
from Tanzania.
Our sponsorship of the Hay Festival
entered its 4th year and 2009 was
definitely the biggest and the best yet.
Our new branding was shown off to
great effect in the Friends Café at the
main entrance of the venue, and our
new retail stand allowed us not only

Examples of our print ads featuring
our new strapline.
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1

Top: A glimpse of the TasteFair coffee cart
Middle: KNCU cupper Amen Mtui with celebrity
chef Michael Caines and wine boffin Oli Smith
Bottom: WI members from Sutton on Sea try out
the coffee tasting kit

premium Cafédirect coffee we serve
has a positive impact on the lives of
coffee growers. Cafédirect has long term
relationships with its farmers to ensure
they have the expertise to provide the
quality standards we require.”

3
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Cafédirect branding on display in the Friends
Café at the Hay Festival.

Grassroots campaigns:
As the marketplace gets increasingly
competitive, it’s essential to build a
differentiated, desirable brand that
consumers recognise and trust. Wordof-mouth support is a key part of this, so
we’ve been reaching out to organisations
such as faith groups and the Women’s
Institute (WI). This engagement enables
people to understand how Cafédirect
does things differently and to spread
the word themselves via interactive
grassroots marketing kits.
In the Autumn of 2009 we offered
WI members the chance to hold a
Cafédirect Coffee Tasting Morning.
We created kits which they could order
from us for free, allowing them to taste
coffees from three different origins and
choose their favourite. Containing a step
by step tasting guide, a DVD of short
films and tasty snacks to help bring out
the flavours of the different coffees, the
kits were a huge success. We received
an influx of orders within the first week
followed by a succession of thank you
notes and photos from the tastings.
Events were featured in regional press
and we’re really proud of how much
people enjoyed the experience.
Over the holidays, we targeted
food lovers with a ‘Gourmet Getaway’
campaign featuring the amazing prize
of a weekend away at Michael Caines’
Gidleigh Park hotel. The competition
was advertised through our network of
other ethical partners, including Ecover
and Divine, as well as via our first ever
Facebook ads, which received an
excellent response. Michelin Star Chef
Michael Caines’ support of Cafédirect
speaks volumes about the taste and
quality or our products. Michael selected
our Machu Picchu in a blind taste test
and now serves it in his hotels. Michael
explains “I was delighted to make the
switch to Cafédirect. I know every cup of

GROWER FOCUSED

to display the new packaging, but also
to encourage visitors to purchase the
products they tasted. Celebrity guests
also dropped by to pick up their favourite
drink, including newsreader Jon Snow,
comedienne Sue Perkins, TV presenter
Mariella Frostrup and TV personality/
cleaning queen Aggie MacKenzie.
Visitors were asked for their feedback
on the new teas and keen supporters
filled in cards asking their local retailer
to stock them. The icing on the cake was
that over 800 new people signed up to
our Friends of Cafédirect community,
smashing 2008’s total.

An inspirational and accountable business

Venturing into social media
Research shows that 79.8% of UK
internet users visit social networking
sites, the highest proportion in
Europe. Using the TasteFair event
(see pg. 34) as a launch platform,
we started a blog and created both
a Facebook page and Flickr channel
to engage wider audiences.

Our exploration of social media channels has been going from
strength to strength throughout the year, enabling us to extend
our reach, provide a more personal insight into the business
and build a stronger sense of community amongst Friends
of Cafédirect.
The blog has now been integrated into our homepage,
creating dynamic content and engaging Friends in conversations
via the comments section. It allows us to connect consumers
more directly with growers through features such as updates
from the field and Question & Answer sessions. There are also
fun, interactive elements such as recipes, caption competitions
and kits for supporters to hold their own Cafédirect Coffee
Tasting Mornings or Tea Parties. We have a team of bloggers
who focus on different topics according to their expertise within
the business, including environmental issues and events.
We also feature a different Friend of Cafédirect each month,
so please get in touch if you’d like to be involved.
Twitter has also been a useful tool to provide immediate
updates on activity and to join in active conversations.
Tweets over the past year have included comments from
our London staff on trips to origin and retweeting (forwarding
on) information of interest from other sources, such as
the Fairtrade Foundation or other ethical businesses like
Divine Chocolate.
Involvement in social media brings to life Cafédirect’s
voice and personality, building a more personal connection
between consumers and Cafédirect. We are currently evaluating
our impact within social media to date to shape our digital
communications strategy going forward.

Flickr: http://www.flickr.com/photos/cafedirect
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Facebook: http://www.facebook.com/cafedirect

November brought the launch of our
new and improved online shop hosted
by Ethical Superstore. Initial sales
look promising and are significantly
higher than the same period last year.

We are looking to expand on these items so keep an eye
on the shop for even more gift ideas. Ethical Superstore
also features items such as environmentally friendly kettles
and a non-electric coffee maker, made from eco-friendly
and recyclable materials, so you can enjoy your Cafédirect
tea, coffee or cocoa with a lower carbon footprint
(see pgs. 24-25).

The redesigned online shop has enabled us to offer a more
efficient service, reach a wider audience and to offer special
online promotions and discounts. Beyond individual products,
our online range also features items such as gift hampers for
coffee, tea and cocoa lovers as well as Cafédirect branded
jute bags and mugs.

You can access our online shop from a button on our
homepage or directly at www.Cafédirect.co.uk/shop

GROWER FOCUSED

Buying Cafédirect online

1
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The latest additions to our range
Developing new products enables Cafédirect to reach
new customers and encourages current fans to try new
additions to our range. This year we added one new
coffee and two new teas to fill gaps in the market and
to meet consumer demand.
Last year we introduced Machu Picchu Freeze-dried Instant
coffee, Earl Grey tea and English Breakfast tea. One of our
biggest challenges, however, was getting the new products
listed in supermarkets. Competition in the hot beverage
category was fierce due both to economic conditions and
to larger brands supporting their own new products with
high profile and costly marketing campaigns.
That said, the most powerful voice of all is that of the
consumer. You can help us to get these new products listed
by asking for them by name at your local store. Consumer
demand is the most compelling case for stores to stock
Cafédirect’s products.
English Breakfast and Earl Grey Teas are currently
sold in the Co-Op and Machu Picchu Freeze-dried Instant is
currently available in Waitrose, Tesco and through Ocado.
All 3 new products can also be found at our new online shop,
www.cafedirect.co.uk/shop, which you can also access via
a button on the homepage of our website. Please do give
them a try!
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Machu Picchu Freeze-dried Instant Coffee:
Following the success of our best selling Machu Picchu
Fresh Ground coffee and coffee beans, we created a new
freeze-dried Machu Picchu product. The growing consumer
desire for provenance meant that it was a natural extension
to create a premium quality, single-origin freeze-dried version
to complete the range. In blind taste tests Machu Picchu
Freeze-dried Instant outperformed the market leader in
gourmet instant coffees.
To support the product’s launch, we partnered with
Responsible Travel to offer a holiday to visit the Machu Picchu
ruins in Peru. We also ran a social media campaign through
our blog where Friends of Cafédirect sent in questions for Raul
del Águila, General Manager of Cocla, who grow the beans
for the Machu Picchu products. Raúl answered the questions
on video and the post had over 1,500 hits.

1
GROWER FOCUSED

3
ACCOUNTABLE BUSINESS

Living up to our Gold Standard | Cafédirect PLC

2
ENVIRONMENTAL ACTION

Earl Grey & English Breakfast Tea:
Since 2006, Cafédirect has been working with
smallholder farmers who supply raw tea leaves to
the Kelliewatte tea estate in Sri Lanka. Their tea is
a key ingredient in our newly launched Earl Grey
and English Breakfast teas. Cafédirect’s support
and training programmes for the smallholders
have focused on helping them to improve their
relationship with the tea estate and the estate’s
workers, to increase their crop yields and to
develop a stronger, more dynamic and
sustainable organisation.
In blind taste tests, Cafédirect’s new teas
outperformed both the market leader and the
leading ethical player in speciality teas. Described
as a smooth, light and refreshing tea, Earl Grey
from Sri Lanka is delicately scented with natural oil
of Bergamot to create the distinctive flavour and
fragrance. In contrast, English Breakfast is a brisk,
bright and full bodied blend of teas from Kenya
and Sri Lanka.

An inspirational and accountable business

Cafédirect in the news
Media coverage is one of the
most impactful ways to reach
new consumers, influence other
businesses and deliver news
to our trade partners. This year
we hired a new agency, Unity,
to cover corporate, trade and
consumer media across the UK and
Ireland and also redefined our key
messages. The results have been
impressive with excellent coverage
in national and regional press.
In our communications to corporate and trade audiences,
we highlighted our pioneering business model, applied for
awards and focused on the unique projects funded by our
profit reinvestment. For consumer audiences, the coverage
has focused on our direct connections with growers and on
demonstrating our award-winning taste and quality through
competitions, interviews and ‘tried and tested’ panels.
Promoting key Cafédirect spokespeople in the media
helps develop the personality of the brand. Throughout the
year, profiles of CEO Anne MacCaig have reinforced the
entrepreneurial spirit of the brand, with the Women in Ethical
Business Award win resulting in standout coverage in The
Times. Anne also appeared on Working Lunch on BBC2
talking about Cafédirect’s difference, and she was named one
of the most influential women in food and drink by The Grocer
in November. We’ve also built up our reputation with trade
media as a reliable and knowledgeable information source
across the grocery and foodservice industries and on ethical
and sustainability topics. Interviews with our Head of Sales,
Jon Marlow, have featured in key publications including The
Grocer, Out of Home Magazine and Caterer and Hotelkeeper,
maintaining our presence in front of influential buyers.
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Another highlight occurred in July when we
secured the fantastic opportunity to be on
The Guardian Online’s You Ask, They Answer
series, a week-long question and answer
session with Guardian readers. There was a
lively and in-depth debate around big brands
using ethical labels as mere marketing tools,
organic conversion and the carbon impact of
food miles. You can read the debate for yourself at: http://www.
guardian.co.uk/environment/2009/jul/13/you-ask-cafedirect.
As part of our efforts to grow sales, we launched a regional
print campaign to promote recognition of our new packs. Using
the distinctive tools theme from the packs, we partnered with
Rocket Gardens to place competitions in regional newspapers.
The competitions reached over 1 million people and received
a great response – one competition had over 2000 entries in
four days!
In the last quarter of 2009, we focused our efforts on
showcasing the impressive results of our 3-year AdapCC
project (see pgs. 26-27). The story broke in The Guardian in
October, and was followed by a trip to one of the pilot groups
in Kenya in November. Journalists from The Spectator, Reuters
and This is Africa joined us in the field to see the project’s
impact first hand and to attend the AdapCC workshop in
Nairobi where the results from the project were shared with
Cafédirect’s other African partners and other interested parties,
including the Kenyan Ministry of Agriculture. This provided an
excellent opportunity for the journalists to both speak to the
people who had benefitted from the project and to see the
ripple effect that the project has been having beyond the pilot
group.
Alongside the press trip to Kenya, AdapCC has generated
impressive coverage amongst environmental websites and
blogs, including Treehugger.com, and in consumer press such
as Tesco Magazine.

1
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Leaders of the pack
Winning awards offers valuable independent
endorsement and enables us to build our
credentials with various audiences. Last year
it was particularly satisfying to be recognised
for both our pioneering business model and
for the fantastic quality of our products.

In June, Cafédirect was crowned Ethical
Business of the Year at the Triodos
Women in Ethical Business Awards
(WEBA) in recognition of its outstanding
achievements. The awards honour
women who run the nation’s best ethical
businesses and are sponsored by The
Times newspaper, which also published
a profile of our CEO, Anne MacCaig.
For Cafédirect, this recognition helps
to meet our goal to demonstrate how
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business can and should be done. As
Anne said in her acceptance speech,
“I really hope that this award inspires
lots of other organisations to work in
partnership with growers because of the
enormous impact it has on lives around
the world.”
Anne dedicated the award to
the quarter of a million smallholder
growers Cafédirect works with. Andrew
Ethuru from Michimikuru Tea Growers’
Factory in Kenya shared his pride in the
accolade, “It’s great news, not only for
Cafédirect, but for us in Michimikuru as
we are all one family. We are delighted
and we share the happiness.”
That same month, Cafédirect’s San
Cristobal Drinking Chocolate and our
Decaffeinated Medium Roast Fresh
Ground Coffee were both awarded
prestigious Gold Stars at The Guild
of Fine Food’s annual Great Taste
Awards. Regarded as the food and
drink industry’s Oscars, the scheme is
the UK’s largest independent evaluation
of gourmet food and drink. Having
the gold star award stickers on our
packs offers consumers independent
confirmation of the premium taste and
quality of our products, a valuable asset
to make us stand out from the rest.
The farmers who grow and handpick

cocoa beans for our San Cristobal
Drinking Chocolate believe their speedy
processing methods are behind its
great taste. Their secret is to ensure the
white cocoa flesh from inside the pods
is processed in less than six hours, so
the cocoa is at its freshest. The direct
relationship between Cafédirect and the
cocoa growers enables them to control
this process themselves rather than
leave it in the hands of middlemen, like
many mass producers do, compromising
the freshness and quality of the cocoa.
Made with 40% of the finest quality
cocoa from the small town of San
Cristobal in the Dominican Republic,
and mixed only with Fairtrade sugar,
Cafédirect’s San Cristobal Drinking
Chocolate is one of the purest available,
with a rich, creamy taste.
Abel Fernandez, Operations
Manager at Conacado, the co-operative
where the cocoa is grown, said, “We feel
especially proud of winning because the
product stands for quality, transparency,
community, social justice and respect
for the environment, which are the
main principles of our organisation.
For reasons like this, at Conacado
we’re prouder by the day to ‘BE
CAFÉDIRECT’.”

1

Participating in conferences and
speaking at events is one way
we tackle the role of being an
influential ethical business. This
year two such opportunities stood
out from the rest.

3
Head of Strategic
Development
Wolfgang Weinman
speaking at the
Fairtrade Foundation’s
commercial conference
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In August 2009, Impact & Sustainability Manager, Whitney
Kakos, participated in a conference in Konigstein, Germany
called “Investing in Agriculture – Implications for Equity,
Growth and Environment.” Sponsored by the German
Technical Cooperation (GTZ), our partner in AdapCC, the
conference discussed how various sectors of society can help
make agriculture profitable for smallholder farmers. Whitney
participated in a panel discussion and contributed Cafédirect’s
view on why a private company would invest in agriculture.
Summing up her response, she says “Climate change is
a threat to our supply chain, pure and simple. That’s what any
company cares about, but we’re also investing because
climate change is THE issue affecting the livelihoods of the
growers we partner with. Adaptation needs to happen now,
and our business model is based on partnerships, so we’re
not going to up and buy from any other supplier that happens
to be luckier with the weather.”
In September, 2009 Head of Strategic Development,
Wolfgang Weinmann, spoke at the Fairtrade Foundation’s
commercial conference in London. With a theme of ‘Fairtrade:
more than supply and demand’, Wolfgang spoke alongside
MP Mike Foster, Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for
International Development, and Ian Leggett, Director of People
and Planet. In a presentation entitled ‘From compliance
towards commitment – the Cafédirect way of doing business’,
Wolfgang painted a picture of Fairtrade being about more
than just signing up for the label and counting the volumes
of product that you purchase from farmers.

Addressing a crowd of existing and potential new Fairtradecertified licensees, he explained that the deeper elements
of a fair trading relationship include the ethical behaviour of
the company across all aspects of its business, as well as
empowering the smallholder farmers that it buys from. He then
shared examples of how Cafédirect stands out in this respect,
with growers owning shares in the business and having two
Directors on the Board. Moreover, the investment of Cafédirect
profit back into the businesses of growers and the recent
evolution of grower organisations managing this investment
makes us a truly exemplary model for others to follow.
Evidently, the other speakers agreed as they both mentioned
Cafédirect’s leadership as well!

GROWER FOCUSED

Inspiring others to follow:
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Meeting our grower partners
on their own turf
We cultivate direct, mutually
beneficial relationships with the
organisations from whom we
buy coffee, tea and cocoa. These
relationships are what sets us
apart from the rest, so meeting
those people and understanding
their interests first-hand is crucial.
In August, Nicola Pearson, Head of Marketing and
Communications, and Ben Styche, Retail Controller, travelled
to Uganda and Tanzania to visit the Igara Tea Growers’
Factory and the Kagera Co-operative Union (KCU) to see
for themselves how tea and coffee are grown.
Ben has a long history of working with tea and coffee
brands, having spent three years at Douwe Egberts and
six years at Twinings before joining Cafédirect, yet this was
the first time he’s met the people whose tea and coffee he
sells. At Igara, Ben was struck by how “passionate, natural
and business oriented people were, eager to beat budget
and smash last year’s numbers.” Whilst Ben’s focus in the
UK is on sales targets, he quickly saw that, for the 4,500
smallholder farmer members of Igara, these sales numbers
mean “families supported, children sent to school, schools
being built, people able to plan for the future”.
At the KCU Board meeting Nicola was able to share the
“We are the growers and you can taste it” brand strategy
which was well received. What struck her during the trip
was the co-operative’s focus and drive on quality. “Through
education and quality improvement programmes funded
by Cafédirect’s profit investment, KCU’s coffee gets better
every year. That’s good for everyone as it not only means
higher prices for more premium product for KCU, but also
an excellent cup of coffee for the Cafédirect consumers”.

Cafédirect Retail Controller
Ben Styche tries to pick the
perfect tea leaves during a visit
to our partner Igara in Uganda.
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We couldn’t help sharing some recent news and
giving you a sneak peek of what to expect in 2010.
Be sure to check our website regularly or sign up
as a Friend of Cafédirect to get all the latest news.

GROWER FOCUSED

A preview of 2010:

1

>> In February 2010, we were thrilled to win the Sustainable

>> We have also been shortlisted for the Business Commitment to the

Environment (BCE) awards for our pioneering AdapCC project with
GTZ on adaptation to climate change.

>> We geared up for a host of activities during Fairtrade Fortnight 2010
and made a media splash with 120 pieces of coverage and 25 radio
interviews in one day!

>> We’ll be launching a Spring time marketing campaign that links

consumers to our smallholder grower partners around the theme
of homegrown produce tasting better. Watch out for a chance to
‘Sow Your Own’ when you buy our Fresh Ground coffee.

>> During 2010 we will be touring events across the UK with our

>> We’ll be launching some delicious new products in the Autumn,
so stay tuned!
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new Cafédirect sampling experience. From Hay Festival to the
Three Counties Show, and WOMAD to the Edinburgh Fringe Festival,
we’d love to see you there.

2
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Procurement category and be a runner up in the Sustainable Finance
category of the Sustainable City Awards hosted by the City of London
Corporation. Billed as “the green Oscars”, the awards reward UK
businesses for outstanding achievement across all aspects
of sustainability.

An inspirational and accountable business

Financial summary
The company changed its financial
year-end in 2009 from September
to December. These results for
2008/09 therefore represent the
15 months ended 31 December
2009 (“2009”) and the results for
2007/08 represent the 12 months
ended 30 September 2008 (“2008”).
The company’s turnover for the 15 months ended 31 December
2009 was £24.3 million compared with £22.3 million for the
12 months ended 30 September 2008. On a like-for-like basis
this represents a year-on-year decrease of 13%. The very
challenging UK market adversely affected sales volumes and
margins in all sectors, as did the ongoing adoption of Fairtrade
and other ethical labels by mainstream competitor brands and
supermarket own-label products. Sales to the retail sector were
most affected, with revenues from out-of-home and international
customers performing better. By product group, our awardwinning Fresh Ground coffees continued to perform more
strongly than our Freeze-dried Instant coffee and tea products
which compete in a more price sensitive market.
The company buys its raw materials in US dollars, and
also buys euro-denominated services, so profit margins were
adversely affected during the year by the drop in the value of
sterling. This was mitigated to some extent by our policy of
buying foreign currencies in advance at agreed rates. However,
once the full effect of sterling’s devaluation was felt, it became
essential to pass onto our customers some of the increased
costs via a price rise. This inevitably had an effect on the
company’s sales volumes in the second half of 2009.
Following the termination of our arrangements with
Bridgethorne, our former sales agency, average staff numbers
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increased year on year from 34 to 39 as the company
successfully developed its own in-house retail sales capability.
As a result, external sales and marketing costs fell year on
year. This was despite the company undertaking a major
re-launch of its brand and packaging designs in May 2009.
Significant focus was placed on reducing administration
expenses, particularly in the second half of the year. On
a like-for-like basis, costs fell by 28% compared with 2008.
2009 profit before deducting Producer Partnership
Programme (PPP) funds was £0.8 million compared with £1.6
million in 2008. PPP was deliberately maintained at a similar
level to 2008 (£0.7 million) to provide continuing support for
grower partners. After deducting this cost, the company’s
Profit before Tax was £0.1 million (2008: £0.9 million).
Over the 6 years since the company’s public share issue
in 2004, Cafédirect has invested more than £3.7 million in
PPP; this represents more than half of the company’s profits
before deducting PPP.
The company continues to maintain a strong balance sheet
with net assets at the end of 2009 of £8.1 million. This includes
net cash of £3.4 million (2008: £4.2 million).
As a Fairtrade company, Cafédirect meets all the requirements
laid down by the Fairtrade Labelling Organisations International
(FLO), including the payment of Fairtrade premiums for coffee,
tea and cocoa raw materials. In 2009, Cafédirect paid Fairtrade
premiums of £917,000 (2008: £886,000).

Richard Scanlon

Finance Director, Cafédirect plc
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Financial overview since the 2004 share issue
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*Given the change of year-end in 2009, average monthly
figures have been used to provide a more comparable view
of our financial performance.
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Cafédirect has invested more
than half its profits into PPP
programmes since 2004
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Average monthly turnover*

Here’s what you can do to help us
grow and prosper:
>> Ask for Cafédirect at your local supermarket or independent

convenience store – detach the top ‘stock it’ card on the next page
and make your voice heard!

>> Ask your workplace to serve Cafédirect if it doesn’t already – detach the
bottom ‘stock it’ card and pass our details on to your colleagues

>> Host a Cafédirect Coffee Morning or Afternoon Tea and introduce

friends and family to our award winning products – for ideas and
resources, go to: http://www.cafedirect.co.uk/friends

>> Sign up for our e-newsletter (http://www.cafedirect.co.uk/friends)
>> Follow us on twitter (http://twitter.com/Cafedirect_hq)
>> Become a fan on Facebook (http://www.facebook.com/cafedirect)

48 Annual Report 2008/09

Cafédirect would like to thank its grower
partners, employees, shareholders and
consumers for their steadfast support.
We’d also like to thank our PPP implementation
partners Twin Trading, Imani Development,
the German Technical Cooperation, Oxfam
Sri Lanka, Fair Organic Solutions, the
International Fund for Agricultural
Development and the Department for
International Development’s Food Retail
Industry Challenge Fund for supporting
the Producer Partnership Programme on
the ground. Thanks also to the team at
This Way Up for all their hard work designing
this report.

Stock Cafédirect!
Dear Shop Manager,
Cafédirect offers the highest quality coffee, tea and
drinking chocolate in partnership with expert growers
from around the world and I want the opportunity to
buy their products in this store.
If you stock it, I’ll buy it and that’s a promise.
To order Cafédirect’s delicious products, please phone 0207 033 6000 and ask
for the Foodservice team, or email them at foodservice@cafedirect.co.uk.
With best regards from your local customer,
Name:
Address:

Stock Cafédirect!
Dear
Cafédirect offers the highest quality coffee, tea and
drinking chocolate in partnership with expert growers
from around the world. I want to use the purchasing
power of our workplace to support their unique ethical
business, while also supplying us with excellent
quality hot drinks.
You can find out more about them at www.cafedirect.co.uk and to order
phone 0207 033 6000 and ask for the Foodservice team, or email them
at foodservice@cafedirect.co.uk.
With best regards from your employee,
Name:
Address:

www.cafedirect.co.uk

Cafédirect
Unit F, Zetland House
5-25 Scrutton Street,
London EC2A 4HJ
+44 (0)207 033 6000
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Cafédirect plc
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors present their report and financial statements for the 15 months ended 31 December 2009.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the company in the period under review was that of brand management and trading in
Fairtrade coffee, tea and cocoa products under the brand name Cafédirect.
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the period.
BUSINESS REVIEW
The company changed its financial year-end in 2009 from September to December. This change was made so
that key activities are spread more evenly throughout the year, enabling better use of the company’s limited
resources. The results for 2008/09 therefore represent the 15 months ended 31 December 2009 (“2009”) and the
results for 2007/08 represent the 12 months ended 30 September 2008 (“2008”).
The company’s turnover in 2009 was £24.3 million compared with £22.3 million in 2008. On a like-for-like
basis this represents a year-on-year decrease of 13%. The very challenging UK market adversely affected sales
volumes and margins in all sectors, as did the ongoing adoption of Fairtrade and other ethical labels by
mainstream competitor brands and supermarket own label products. Sales to the retail sector were most affected,
with revenues from out-of-home and international customers performing better. By product group, our awardwinning Roast & Ground coffees continued to perform more strongly than our Freeze-Dried coffee and Tea
products which compete in a more price sensitive market.
The company buys its raw materials in US dollars, and also has exposure to euro-denominated services, so profit
margins were adversely affected during the year by the drop in the value of sterling. This was mitigated to some
extent by the company’s policy of buying foreign currency in advance. However, once the full effect of
sterling’s devaluation was felt, it became essential to pass onto our customers some of the increased costs via a
price rise. This inevitably had an effect on the company’s sales volumes in the second half of 2009.
Following the conclusion of the sales agency arrangements with Bridgethorne, average staff numbers increased
this year from 34 to 39 as the company successfully developed its own in-house retail sales capability. As a
result, external sales and marketing costs fell year on year. This was despite the company undertaking a major
re-launch of its brand and packaging designs in May 2009.
Significant focus was placed on reducing overheads, particularly in the second half of the year. On a like-forlike basis, overheads (property-related costs, depreciation, export development costs and other administrative
expenses set out in note 3 to the accounts on page 20) fell by 28% compared with 2008 – from an average of
£141,000 per month to an average of £101,000 per month.
2009 profit before deducting PPP was £0.8 million compared with £1.6 million in 2008. PPP was deliberately
maintained at a similar level to 2008 (£0.7 million) to provide continuing support for grower partners. After
deducting this cost, the company’s Profit before Tax was £0.1 million (2008: £0.9 million). For further
explanation of PPP see ‘Benefits to Grower Partners’ section below.
Over the 6 years since the company’s public share issue in 2004, Cafédirect has invested more than £3.7 million
in PPP; this represents more than half of the company’s profits before deducting PPP.
The company continues to maintain a strong balance sheet with net assets of £8.1 million at the end of 2009.
This includes net cash of £3.4 million (2008: £4.2 million). The company’s net cash at the end of 2009 was
lower than at the end of 2008 due to payment during the year of last year’s dividend and corporation tax, the
company’s relocation to new offices at the start of 2009 and payments in respect of provisions made in the 2008
accounts. Cash tied up in working capital (stocks and debtors less creditors) was around £4.5 million at the end
of both 2008 and 2009.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The company’s key financial performance indicators, which are closely monitored throughout the year and
measured against pre-set targets, include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sales values, analysed by key sectors such as UK retail, UK out-of-home and international;
Gross profit, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of sales;
The level of administration costs, looking at the ongoing UK business separately from other costs;
Operating profit and profit before tax;
The level of working capital employed in the business, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of
sales; and
Cash generated by the business.

The company’s performance in 2009 against most of these indicators is set out in the Business Review section
above.
In addition, the company has a number of other key performance indicators, with the company’s performance
against these indicators sometimes being called the company’s “social return”. These include:
•
•
•

The amounts paid by Cafédirect for its coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials over and above market
prices. These amounts include, but are not restricted to Fairtrade premiums;
The amount invested in Cafédirect’s unique PPP (Producer Partnership Programme); and
The volume of coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials purchased from grower partners.

The company’s performance in 2009 against these indicators is set out in the ‘Benefits to Grower Partners’
section below.
BENEFITS TO GROWER PARTNERS
As a Fairtrade company, Cafédirect meets all the requirements laid down by the Fairtrade Labelling
Organisation (FLO), including the payment of Fairtrade premiums for coffee, tea and cocoa raw materials. In
2009, Cafédirect paid Fairtrade premiums of £827,000 (2008: £886,000).
In addition, Cafédirect’s most distinctive difference is its Producer Partnership Programme (PPP). This
programme primarily consists of business development programmes tailored to the needs of the grower
organisations which supply the company with raw materials. They include marketing, quality control, crop
husbandry and crop diversification projects. This is a discretionary investment by Cafédirect aimed at
strengthening the grower organisations in line with the Company’s Gold Standard. It ensures Cafédirect’s
product quality is second to none. Funding of these programmes is over and above Fairtrade terms.
The company invested £706,000 in PPP during 2009 (2008: £658,000). In addition, a further £833,000 was
raised during the year with minimal additional cost to the company by our PPP implementation partners, Twin
and Imani, as well as through Cafédirect’s own fund-raising efforts. These funds were raised on the basis of
50:50 matching with Cafédirect’s PPP spend. The total benefit for our grower partners in 2009 was therefore
£1,539,000 (2008: £1,365,000).
Over the 6 years since the company’s public share issue in 2004, Cafédirect has invested more than £3.7 million
in PPP; this represents more than half of the company’s profits before deducting PPP.
Raw material purchases from grower organisations in Latin America, Africa and Asia in 2009 were as follows:
•
•
•

2,798 tonnes of coffee beans (2008: 2,847 tonnes);
694 tonnes of tea (2008: 957 tonnes); and
25 tonnes of cocoa beans (2008: 101 tonnes).
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The company seeks to mitigate exposure to all forms of risk, both internal and external, where practicable, and
to transfer risk to insurers, where cost-effective. This approach is operated under the company’s Gold Standard
which includes within its buying and trading policy the statement that Cafédirect will “manage trade in ways
that minimise risk to producers and their organisations”.
The directors consider that the principal risks that face the company are as follows:
•

•

•

•

The company buys raw materials from small and disadvantaged growers, often located in remote and
under-developed regions of the world. The company mitigates this risk by holding appropriate levels of
stock in the supply chain;
The company is exposed to currency movements in that it buys most of its raw materials in US dollars,
pays for its processing of freeze-dried coffee in Euros and sells most of its finished products in pounds
sterling. The company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate this risk as set out in note
23 to the accounts;
The company buys raw material commodities such as coffee, tea and cocoa, the market prices of which
are quoted on international commodity exchanges. Any increases or volatility in prices and shortages in
supply can affect the company’s performance. The company mitigates this risk by buying commodity
futures and options as appropriate - whilst still paying the producer the full market price (and
additional amounts under Fairtrade policies); and
A significant proportion of the company’s revenues are derived from the UK retail sector, and therefore
inevitably come from a relatively small number of customers. The company is mitigating this risk by
developing sales in other sectors, such as out-of-home and international, and also takes out credit
insurance where appropriate.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results for the period are set out on page 16.
Taking into account the company’s results and Gold Standard, as well as an assessment of the company’s
current risk profile and future plans, the directors are not recommending the payment of a dividend in 2010. A
dividend of 2p per share was paid in May 2009.
DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The directors who served during the period and their beneficial interests in the share capital of the company
were as follows:

Geoff Tudhope (Chair)
Raúl del Aguila
Andrew Ethuru
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro
Anne MacCaig (Chief Executive)
Fiona McAnena
Tim Morgan
Richard Scanlon (Finance Director)
John Shaw

2009
No of shares

2008
No of shares

3,000
1,700
1,500
1,000
-

3,000
1,700
1,500
1,000
-

Appointed 9 December 2009
Resigned 9 December 2009

Resigned 9 June 2009*
Appointed 9 June 2009

*Tim Morgan took over as Company Secretary from Stuart Raistrick on 1 April 2009
There have been no changes in the interests of directors between 31 December 2009 and the date of this report.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
As at the date of this report, the company is aware of the following shareholdings of 3% or more:
Number of shares
907,500
905,000
903,000
903,000
451,700
324,650

Twin Trading Limited
Traidcraft plc
Equal Exchange Trading Limited
Oxfam Activities Limited
Cafédirect Producers Limited
Rathbone Nominees Limited

% of total
10.1
10.1
10.0
10.0
5.0
3.6

No other shareholder owns more than 3% of the company’s shares. The number of Ordinary Shares in which a
shareholder can have an interest is limited to 15% of the total shares in issue. This limit does not apply to any
shareholder who is also a member of the Cafédirect Guardians Share Company Ltd.
ANALYSIS OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009
Number of shares
1 – 500
501 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 and over
Total

Number of
shareholders
2,694
1,149
532
29
32
4,436

% of total Number of shares
shareholders
60.7
1,088,650
25.9
1,081,850
12.0
1,452,300
0.7
256,300
0.7
5,116,300
100.0
8,995,400

% of total
shares
12.1
12.0
16.1
2.9
56.9
100.0

GUARDIANS’ SHARE
There is one Guardians’ share, held by the Cafédirect Guardians Share Company Ltd. This company is equally
owned by the four founders of Cafédirect (Equal Exchange Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc
and Twin Trading Ltd) and Cafédirect Producers Ltd, and has the right to nominate a director to the company’s
Board. Its consent is also required for the appointment of the Chair of the Board and for any changes to the
company’s Gold Standard and its consent is also required for certain changes to the company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association.
POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS
No political or charitable donations were made during the period.
EMPLOYEES
It is our policy to keep our employees informed, through regular team meetings and other communications, on
our performance and on matters affecting them as employees.
It is also our policy to give proper consideration to applications for employment received from people with
disabilities, and to give employees who become disabled every opportunity to continue their employment.
Share Incentive Plan
There were no awards made this period.
Pensions
All employees are entitled to join the company’s defined contribution pension scheme after completing three
months’ service. The company contributes an amount equal to 9% of basic salary provided the employee
contributes at least 1% of their basic salary.
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Healthcare
The company operates a private healthcare scheme which all employees are entitled to join after completing 3
months’ service.
PAYMENT OF SUPPLIERS
As part of our Fairtrade commitment, in addition to ensuring that our grower partners have access to necessary
pre-finance, we aim to pay the balance of money owed within three working days of receipt of invoice,
supported by a bill of lading. For all other purchases, it is our policy to agree payment terms with suppliers
when negotiating business transactions and to pay suppliers in accordance with contractual or other legal
obligations. Trade creditors at 31 December 2009 represented 33 days (2008: 30 days) of annual purchases.
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The company operates extensively in overseas currencies. As a result, the company enters into foreign currency
forward contracts when considered appropriate. At 31 December 2009 a proportion of the company’s future
currency requirements were covered by such contracts. As required by FRS 25 the fair value of the exchange
rate risk hedge has been disclosed in note 23.
STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR
The directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed that, as far
as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware. Each of the directors
have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to the
auditor.
AUDITOR
A resolution to reappoint Baker Tilly UK Audit LLP as auditor will be put to the members at the Annual
General Meeting.
By order of the Board

Tim Morgan
Secretary
8 April 2010
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CODE OF BEST PRACTICE
The Board recognises that the New Combined Code on Corporate Governance, published by the Financial
Reporting Council in July 2003, represents best practice for public companies and is committed to working
towards compliance with the code in a manner that is appropriate to the company’s size and structure.
THE BOARD
At 31 December 2009, in line with the structure put in place at the time of the public share issue in 2004, the
Board consisted of:
Non executive chair
Chief executive
Finance director
2 Independent non executive directors (including one consumer representative)
2 Producer directors
1 Guardians nominee director
Each year, one third of the eligible directors retire, in rotation, at the Annual General Meeting in accordance
with the company’s Articles of Association. Accordingly, Graham Fish retires and, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election. The selection of new directors is delegated to the Nominations and Remuneration committee,
which makes recommendations to the Board. Cafédirect Producers Ltd and the Cafédirect Guardians Share
Company Ltd nominate the producer directors and the Guardians nominee director respectively.
THE DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Anne MacCaig (45) joined the company and was appointed as Chief Executive in April 2008. Anne brings with
her a wealth of business and marketing experience, most recently as Ribena’s Marketing Director. In this role
she led the brand’s strategic turnaround and worked with blackcurrant growers and The Wildlife Trusts to
encourage diversity on British blackcurrant farms. She also ensured Ribena was the first major UK soft drink to
use 100% recycled plastic bottles.
Richard Scanlon (48), who is a Chartered Accountant, was appointed Finance Director in September 2006.
Richard was previously Business Development Director of Gatwick Airport and spent over 11 years with TI
Group plc, now part of Smiths Group plc.
NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Geoff Tudhope (60) was appointed a director in 2000 and Chair in November 2008. From 2003 he was Chair of
the company’s Nominations and Remuneration Committee until being succeeded by Graham Fish in 2009.
Following a career in ICI plc, Geoff is now a business mentor to CEOs with Merryck & Co, a founder of the
Globally Responsible Leadership Initiative and deputy chair of the World’s Children’s Prize Foundation for the
Rights of the Child.
Graham Fish (56) was appointed a director in 2006 and as Senior Non-Executive Director in 2008. Also in 2008
he succeeded Geoff Tudhope as Chair of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee. Graham has over 25
years experience in the UK consumer food sector, and was previously Group Commercial Director of Exel plc.
Guardians nominee director:
John Shaw, FCMA, (58) was appointed as the Guardians nominee director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee in 2009. Following a career at Parcelforce Worldwide and Royal Mail, John was until recently the
Finance & IS Director of Oxfam.
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Producer directors:
Raúl del Aguila (51) was appointed a director in 2004. Raúl is a director of the COCLA co-operative in Peru,
producing coffee and cocoa.
Andrew Ethuru (61) was appointed a director in 2009. Andrew is a non-executive director of Michimikuru Tea
Company where he also serves as the chair of the Fairtrade Premium Committee. Andrew is also an elected
director of the East African Fairtrade Network. Previously Andrew has served as an education board member
and chair of the district health management board.
Consumer director:
Fiona McAnena (45) was appointed a director in November 2004. Fiona is Brand Director at Bupa. She is a
Fellow of the Marketing Society and is on the management board. She was a director of the Environment
Council for seven years.
The Board is responsible for setting strategy, approving budgets, capital expenditure, investments and
disinvestments. A report, translated into Spanish as required, summarising the company’s financial and
operational performance is sent to the directors at least seven days in advance of Board meetings, the aim being
to provide each director with information to help them make informed judgements on matters referred to the
Board. The Board meets at least four times a year.
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Board has established a Nominations and Remunerations committee, consisting entirely of non-executive
directors and their terms of reference, and details of each director’s remuneration, are explained on pages 12 to
14.
The arrangements for determining the pay of executive directors (which are included in the report by the
Nominations and Remuneration committee) will be an item on the agenda of the company’s Annual General
Meeting in 2010.
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
The Board invites all shareholders to participate at the Annual General Meeting and provides the Annual Report,
Company announcements and other information on the website at www.cafedirect.co.uk.
If you have any questions about transfer of shares, change of name or address, lost share certificates, death of a
registered holder of shares, or any other query relating to the company’s shares, please contact the Registrar on
0871 664 0300, or at the following address:
Capita Registrars Limited
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
West Yorkshire
HD8 0GA
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
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Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit
or loss of the company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:
a.

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

b.

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

c.

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

d.

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
INTERNAL CONTROL
The directors have responsibility for the company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The directors confirm that the process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
company is in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance, was in place throughout the accounting period and up to
the date when the financial statements were approved, and is regularly reviewed by the Board.
Management are responsible for the identification and evaluation of significant risks and for the design and
implementation of appropriate internal controls. These risks are assessed on an ongoing basis and may be
associated with internal or external factors. Management reports regularly to the Board on the key risks and on
the way that these are managed, and also reports to the Board on any significant changes to the company’s
business and on any risks associated with these changes. There is active Board involvement in assessing the key
business risks facing the company and determining the appropriate course of action for managing these risks.
The directors have established procedures designed to provide an effective system of internal control, with the
following features:
-

budgetary control over all departments, measuring performance against pre-determined targets on a
monthly basis
regular forecasting and reviews covering trading performance, assets, liabilities and cash flow
delegated limits of authority covering key financial commitments including capital expenditure and
recruitment
identification and management of key business risks

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal
control during the period.
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GOING CONCERN
The directors confirm that, after making appropriate enquiries, they have a reasonable expectation that the
company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. This is based on the
company’s strong balance sheet and cash position and reviewing the company’s cash flow forecasts for 2010
and 2011. Accordingly, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the
accounts.

Tim Morgan
Company Secretary
8 April 2010
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Committee members during the year have been:
John Shaw
Tim Morgan
Stuart Raistrick

Guardian nominee director (from June 2009)
Guardian nominee director (to June 2009) and Company Secretary (from April 2009)
Company Secretary (to March 2009)

John Shaw joined the committee in June 2009 and took over as chair in December 2009. Tim Morgan, who was
the previous chair, stood down in favour of John as a result of his resignation as a director. The committee
would like to thank Tim for his contribution as chair and Stuart for his contribution as a committee member.
Richard Scanlon, as Finance Director, provides support and information to the committee, but in keeping with
good practice is not formally a member. This means that the ongoing membership of the committee is two
people, which is considered adequate for a company of the size and scale of Cafédirect plc and is in accordance
with the terms of reference for the committee agreed by the Board. Both members have considerable experience
of financial reporting and of risk management.
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to establish formal and transparent arrangements regarding financial
reporting and internal control principles and to maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
auditors. The committee met twice during the period and in addition the chair of the committee met with the
Finance Director and the auditors to review and approve the audit plan. The key areas of activity included:
•
•
•
•

Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements
Reviewing the Company’s control environment in the light of the key findings from the audit of the
financial statements
Leading the Board’s oversight of the risk register
Working with the external auditors and monitoring the ongoing audit, legal and banking requirements of the
company

The integrity of the Company’s financial statements can be significantly influenced by the accuracy of stock
valuations and the judgements made in respect of accruals and provisions. These issues were key areas of focus
for the auditors. The audit findings highlighted two errors in recording of stock held at third party warehouses.
However, the committee satisfied itself that these were not material and would also have been picked up by the
Company’s stock control systems. The committee has again been involved in ensuring that long-standing
accruals for marketing and promotional activities are appropriately calculated and balances regularly reassessed
to verify that they should continue to be held.
The need for an Internal Audit function was again reviewed and considered inappropriate at this stage. One of
the influencing factors in reaching this conclusion was the positive assurance gained by the committee from the
audit findings. The requirement will be reassessed each year in the context of the company’s control
environment and continued growth.
The Company maintains a comprehensive risk register, which was reviewed in detail by the committee and by
the Board in June 2009. Movement of exchange rates and commodity prices have continued to be high risk
issues and remain volatile. Through its oversight of the risk register, the Audit Committee has been working
with the Finance Director and the Board to ensure that the risks to the Company in this regard are appropriately
managed, without transferring risk to the growers. Currency hedging mitigates the risk in the short to medium
term and the approach remains under review with the Finance Director and the Board.
The Committee is satisfied that the ongoing relationship with the auditors is appropriate and effective and has
considered the independence of the auditors in making this judgement.

John Shaw, Chair – Audit Committee
8 April 2010
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATIONS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Committee members during the year have been:
Graham Fish
Geoff Tudhope
Raymond Kimaro
Andrew Ethuru

Chair from March 2009
Chair until March 2009
Resigned 9 December 2009
Appointed 9 December 2009

Anne MacCaig and Richard Scanlon, as executive directors, provide support and information to the committee,
but in keeping with good practice are not formally members.
The committee’s purpose is to oversee on behalf of the Board formal and transparent arrangements, in the spirit
of Cafédirect’s Gold Standard, regarding the appointment, development and reward of the Executive Team and
the Board (excluding remuneration of non-executive Directors).
The committee’s aim is to comply with all provisions of the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002
and the Combined Code as they apply to a company of our size. The committee met formally five times in 2009.
NOMINATIONS – KEY ACTIVITIES
•

Objective:
Together with the Audit Committee, the committee recommends a Board capability template of skills,
knowledge, experience and mindset needed to help guide the strategy.
Outcome:
The template is reviewed every three years and was last reviewed in 2008. In 2009 every Board member
provided feedback on how they viewed the Board’s performance, gave suggestions for improved
engagement and productivity and identified areas needing specific focus in 2010, for example deeper and
broader engagement with producers through the newly-created Cafédirect Producers Foundation. Following
Tim Morgan’s resignation as Guardian nominee director (see below), the committee felt that it was
important that Tim’s replacement had a financial background to complement the Board’s existing
capabilities.

•

Objective:
Identify, and nominate for approval by the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies.
Outcome:
Tim Morgan resigned as Guardian nominee director in 2009 and, having qualified during the year as a
Chartered Secretary, moved to fill the Company Secretary vacancy brought about by Stuart Raistrick’s
retirement. On behalf of the Board we would like to thank Tim and Stuart for their outstanding
contributions to Cafédirect. The committee worked closely with the Guardians to identify a replacement for
Tim with the appropriate skills, knowledge and experience. Following a joint recruitment process the
Guardians nominated John Shaw, who was about to retire from his role as Finance and IS director of
Oxfam, and the committee subsequently proposed John for approval by the Board.
In 2006 Raymond Kimaro was appointed as a producer director. Raymond indicated at the time of his
appointment that he would serve as a director for three years and, accordingly, he retired in 2009. On behalf
of the Board we would like to thank Raymond for his exceptional contribution to Cafédirect. The
committee worked closely with Cafédirect Producers Limited (“CPL”) to identify a suitable replacement for
Raymond and ensure that a structured induction programme was put in place. Following an extensive
recruitment process, CPL nominated Andrew Ethuru from Michimukuru in Kenya, and the committee
subsequently proposed Andrew for approval by the Board. Andrew attended both the June and September
2009 board meetings as an observer prior to his formal appointment in December.
Raúl del Aguila, who is a producer director appointed in 2004, is due to retire in June 2010. In parallel with
the process to find Raymond Kimaro’s successor, CPL ran a recruitment process for Raúl’s replacement
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and Cafédirect put in place a structured induction programme. Alvaro Gomez, General Manager of Coocafé
in Costa Rica, has attended board meetings since June 2009 and will join the board formally in June 2010.
•

Objective:
Identify, and recommend to the Board, succession plans for directors and oversee succession plans for the
remaining Executive Team members.
Outcome:
At the Executive Team level, the company has had interim Heads of Marketing since late 2007. Nicola
Pearson was appointed to this position on a permanent basis in early 2009, bringing the Executive Team up
to full strength. Richard Scanlon, Finance Director, has taken over responsibility for the company’s HR
function following Moira Rugg’s departure in May 2009.

REMUNERATION – KEY ACTIVITIES
•

Objective:
Determine and agree with the Board the policy, externally benchmarked, for the remuneration of the CEO,
Finance Director and remaining Executive Team members. This sets the framework for considering
remuneration for all employees.
Outcome:
The policy was reviewed in 2008 and remains in place in 2009. In summary, the company looks for
employees who are socially motivated, as well as having the necessary skills and experience to run and
grow the business successfully in a very competitive environment. Because of the company’s dual purpose
and status, the Public Sector and FMCG markets are used as the market guides.

•

Objective:
Determine the remuneration of the Chair of Cafédirect. The Chair of Cafédirect and the executive members
of the Board determine the remuneration of all other non-executive directors.
Outcome:
There were no changes made during the year.

•

Objective:
Approve the design of any performance-related pay schemes and share incentive plans.
Outcome:
An annual senior executive bonus scheme is in place (up to 30% of basic salary) based on a gain-sharing
philosophy to enhance both financial and non-financial performance.

•

Objective:
Determine the policy and scope for pension arrangements for each executive director and the remaining
members of the Executive Team. This sets the framework for considering pension policy for all employees.
Outcome:
The pension policy has not been changed since the review in 2008. Towry Law is the company’s pension
advisor and the default fund is the Friends Provident Stewardship Fund. The company contribution is 9% of
basic salary subject to a minimum employee contribution of 1%.

Executive Directors
Basic entitlements:
Each executive director is paid a basic salary subject to annual review and, in addition, is entitled to a share in
an annual senior executive bonus. The benefit of private medical insurance is available to all employees,
including executive directors. Executive directors have service contracts which are subject to notice periods of
between 3 and 6 months.
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Pension provision:
Executive directors are entitled to join the company’s defined contribution pension scheme. The company
contributes 9% of basic salary provided the employee contributes at least 1% of their basic salary.
Share Incentive Plan (SIP):
There were no awards made during the year.
CHAIR AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
The remuneration of the Chair and the non-executive directors is at levels intended to attract individuals of an
appropriate calibre and commitment.
The Chair and the non-executive directors do not have service contracts. Each non-executive director receives
an annual fee plus a fee for acting as chair of a Board committee. The Chair and the non-executive directors are
not entitled to participate in the company’s share incentive plan, nor in any performance pay schemes or pension
schemes and would not receive any compensation in the event of early termination.
The fees of the Chair and the non-executive directors remain at the levels set with effect from 1 October 2005.
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

For the 15 months ended 31 December
2009:
Geoff Tudhope (Chair)
Raúl del Aguila
Andrew Ethuru*
Graham Fish
Raymond Kimaro**
Anne MacCaig (Chief Executive)
Fiona McAnena
Tim Morgan***
Richard Scanlon (Finance Director)
John Shaw****

Fees
£

Salary
£

Bonus
£

Pension
contribs
£

Other
benefits †
£

Total
£

19,250
9,375
625
10,208
9,375
9,375
4,250
4,458
66,916

131,250
96,250
227,500

-

11,813
8,663
20,476

7,875
17,438
25,313

19,250
9,375
625
10,208
9,375
150,938
9,375
4,250
122,351
4,458
340,205

* appointed on 9 December 2009
** resigned 9 December 2009
*** resigned on 9 June 2009 and became Company Secretary from 1 April 2009
**** appointed on 9 June 2009
† Although no bonus payments were awarded based on the criteria set out in the 2009 annual senior executive
bonus scheme, the ‘Other Benefits’ category includes ex gratia, discretionary awards of £7,875 for Anne
MacCaig and £5,775 for Richard Scanlon in recognition of their exceptional contribution to the business. ‘Other
Benefits’ also includes a housing allowance for Richard Scanlon of £11,663.
Fees for Raúl del Aguila were paid to his employer, the COCLA coffee and cocoa co-operative in Peru.

Graham Fish, Chair – Nominations and Remuneration Committee
8 April 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CAFÉDIRECT PLC
We have audited the financial statements on pages 16 to 29. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom accounting standards (United Kingdom
generally accepted accounting practice).
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As more fully explained in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 8, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/UKNP.
Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of its profit for
the period then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

EUAN BANKS (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BAKER TILLY UK AUDIT LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
2 Bloomsbury Street
London WC1B 3ST
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Cafédirect plc
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
for the period ended 31 December 2009

(15 months)
2009
£

Notes

(12 months)
2008
£

TURNOVER

1

24,343,191

22,343,525

Cost of sales

2

(17,307,040)

(15,061,056)

7,036,151

7,282,469

(6,989,384)

(6,522,730)

Gross profit
Administration expenses

3

OPERATING PROFIT

46,767

759,739

74,701
(1,356)

143,559
(2,093)

Investment income
Interest payable

4
5

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION

6

120,112

901,205

Taxation

8

(35,667)

(273,800)

17

84,445

627,405

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION

The operating profit for the period arises from the company’s continuing operations.
No separate Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses has been presented as all such gains and losses
have been dealt with in the profit and loss account.
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Cafédirect plc
BALANCE SHEET
31 December 2009

Company Registration No. SC141496

Notes

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets

31 December
2009
£

30 September
2008
£

10

240,953

85,927

11
12

4,618,220
2,590,488
3,367,631

3,945,729
3,699,172
4,180,595

10,576,339

11,825,496

(2,745,874)

(3,437,815)

NET CURRENT ASSETS

7,830,465

8,387,681

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

8,071,418

8,473,608

CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

13

14

NET ASSETS

-

(306,727)

8,071,418

8,166,881

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

15
16
17

2,248,850
3,303,691
2,518,877

2,248,850
3,303,691
2,614,340

EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

18

8,071,418

8,166,881

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 8 April 2010

John Shaw
Director
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Cafédirect plc
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the period ended 31 December 2009

Notes

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

Cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

19a

(149,543)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

19b

73,345

141,466

(268,033)

(240,281)

(288,825)

(94,353)

Taxation
Capital expenditure and servicing of finance

19b

1,297,806

Equity dividends paid

(179,908)

-

CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW BEFORE FINANCING

(812,964)

1,104,638

Financing

19b

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH IN THE PERIOD

19c

(812,964)

20,655
1,125,293
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Cafédirect plc
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable accounting standards.
GOING CONCERN
The going concern basis has been adopted in the preparation of the accounts.
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are stated at historical cost.
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write each asset down to its estimated
residual value evenly over its expected useful life, as follows:Short leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures & fittings and Computer equipment

Over the life of the lease
Over three years on a straight line basis

STOCKS AND WORK IN PROGRESS
Stocks and work in progress are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of finished goods and
work in progress includes overheads appropriate to the stage of manufacture. Net realisable value is based upon
estimated selling price less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal. Provision is made
for obsolete and slow-moving items.
FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account.
RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The company operates a defined contribution scheme where the amount charged to the profit and loss account in
respect of pension costs and other post retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year. Differences
between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or
prepayments in the balance sheet.
DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a
right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences
between the company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements that arise from the
inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in years different from those in which they are recognised in the
financial statements.
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the years in which timing
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.
LEASED ASSETS AND OBLIGATIONS
Where assets are financed by leasing agreements that give rights approximating to ownership (“finance leases”),
the assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright. The amount capitalised is the present value of the
minimum lease payments payable during the lease term. The corresponding leasing commitments are shown as
obligations to the lessor.
Lease payments are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements, and the interest is charged to the profit
and loss account in proportion to the remaining balance outstanding.
All other leases are “operating leases” and the annual rentals are charged to profit and loss on a straight line
basis over the lease term.
TURNOVER
Turnover represents the value, net of Value Added Tax, of goods sold and services provided to customers.
Revenue is recognised at the point of despatch of goods.
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009
1

TURNOVER AND PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION
The company’s turnover and profit before taxation were all derived from its principal activity. Sales
can be analysed as follows:
(15 months)
(12 months)
2009
2008
£
£
By geographical market:
United Kingdom
23,644,284
21,804,035
Overseas sales
698,907
539,490

By product group:
Coffee
Tea
Hot chocolate

2

COST OF SALES INCLUDING PREMIUMS PAID TO
PRODUCER ORGANISATIONS

Opening stock as at start of year
Purchases
Premiums
Closing stock as at end of year

24,343,191

22,343,525

19,169,468
4,505,759
667,964

16,828,225
4,750,897
764,403

24,343,191

22,343,525

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

3,945,729
17,152,106
827,425
(4,618,220)

3,816,020
14,304,481
886,284
(3,945,729)

17,307,040

15,061,056

2009 purchases are net of £160,869 (2008: £111,997) of accruals made in previous periods which have
been reversed during the period. A thorough review has shown they are no longer necessary. These
accruals were originally set up in respect of marketing and promotional costs.

3

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Staff costs (see note 7)
Marketing and selling costs
Producer partnership programmes (PPP)
Property-related costs
Depreciation
Export development costs
Other administrative expenses

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

2,396,276
2,365,085
705,753
253,206
133,799
59,895
1,075,370

1,538,634
2,636,860
658,178
296,305
158,966
107,863
1,125,924

6,989,384

6,522,730
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009

4

5

INVESTMENT INCOME

74,701

INTEREST PAYABLE

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

1,356

29
2,064

1,356

2,093

PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after
charging/(crediting):
Depreciation and amounts written off tangible fixed assets:
Charge for the period – owned assets
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Exchange losses/(gains)
Operating lease rentals:
Plant and machinery
Land & buildings
Auditors’ remuneration – statutory audit
Remuneration of auditors for non-audit work – taxation

7

(12 months)
2008
£

Bank interest receivable

On bank loans and overdrafts
On other loans

6

(15 months)
2009
£

EMPLOYEES

The average monthly number of persons (including executive
directors) employed by the company during the period was:
Sales and marketing
Operations and administration

Staff costs for above persons:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

143,559

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

133,799
124,305

158,966
9,857
(89,221)

21,955
252,290
29,500
3,000

7,570
141,875
28,500
2,625

(15 months)
2009
No.

(12 months)
2008
No.

20
19

14
20

39

34

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

2,041,237
219,113
135,926

1,325,878
141,524
71,232

2,396,276

1,538,634
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009
7

EMPLOYEES (Cont’d)

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

Emoluments
Amounts paid to defined contribution pension schemes

319,729
20,476

262,854
14,202

Total emoluments

340,205

277,056

No.

No.

2

3

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The number of directors to whom relevant benefits
were accruing under defined contribution pension
schemes was:

£

£

Amounts paid in respect of highest paid director:
Emoluments (including benefits in kind)
Amounts paid to defined contribution pension schemes

139,125
11,813

86,625
5,906

Total emoluments

150,938

92,531
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009
8

TAXATION

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits of the period
Adjustments in respect of previous periods

36,232
3,186

264,847
26,782

Total current tax

39,418

291,629

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Effect of increased tax rate on opening liability

(3,751)
-

(17,954)
125

Total deferred tax

(3,751)

(17,829)

TOTAL TAXATION

35,667

273,800

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

120,112

901,205

33,631

252,337

6,914
1,865
5,899
(12,077)
3,186

3,880
20,843
(10,129)
(11,617)
9,533
26,782

39,418

291,629

Factors affecting current tax charge for the period:

The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK (28%). The differences are explained
below:
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by small companies marginal
rate of corporation tax in the UK 28% (2008: 28%)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation
Other timing differences
Benefit of small companies starting rate
Effect of higher rate tax for part of year
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous years
Current tax charge for the period
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009

10

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Short
leasehold
improvements
£

Cost:
1 October 2008
Additions
Disposals

£

Total
£

18,219
58,572
(3,937)

300,728
40,003
(42,996)

468,817
288,825
(196,803)

190,250

72,854

297,735

560,839

149,870
39,799
(149,870)

15,822
21,472
(3,937)

217,198
72,528
(42,996)

382,890
133,799
(196,803)

31 December 2009

39,799

33,357

246,730

319,886

Net book value:
31 December 2009

150,451

39,497

51,005

240,953

30 September 2008

-

2,397

83,530

85,927

Depreciation:
1 October 2008
Charged in the period
Disposals

STOCKS

Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods and goods for resale

12

Computer
equipment

149,870
190,250
(149,870)

31 December 2009

11

Furniture,
fixtures &
fittings
£

2009
£

2008
£

2,677,311
434,569
1,506,341

2,035,690
1,220,880
689,159

4,618,220

3,945,729

2009
£

2008
£

2,225,707
274,101
90,680

3,399,721
254,820
44,631

2,590,488

3,699,172

DEBTORS

Due within one year:
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Included in other debtors is £23,460 in relation to deferred tax (2008: £19,709).
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009

13

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

2009
£

2008
£

1,630,757
36,232
54,264
48,205
976,416

1,669,618
264,847
46,671
48,338
1,408,341

2,745,874

3,437,815

Deferred
taxation
£

Other
provisions
£

Balance at 1 October 2008
Transfer from profit and loss account

(19,709)
(3,751)

306,727
(306,727)

Balance at 31 December 2009

(23,460)

Trade creditors
Corporation tax
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

14

PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

-

‘Other provisions’ balance at 1 October 2008 represented one-off costs incurred in connection with the
conclusion of sales agency arrangements and the company’s decision to move offices.
2009
£

2008
£

Accelerated capital allowances
Other timing differences

(15,643)
(7,817)

(17,791)
(1,918)

Balance at end of period

(23,460)

(19,709)

Provision for deferred tax has been made as follows:

Deferred taxation is a net asset and so, accordingly, the above balance is included within debtors (see
note 12) in the balance sheet.
15

SHARE CAPITAL

2009
£

2008
£

Authorised:
14,999,999 ordinary shares of 25p each

3,750,000

3,750,000

Allotted and called up
8,995,400 ordinary shares of 25p each

2,248,850

2,248,850

In addition to the above allotted and called up share capital there is one Guardians’ share of 25p which
is fully paid.
The Guardians’ share differs from the Ordinary shares in that it has the right to safeguard the
company’s mission and its guiding principles. There is one Guardians’ share, held by the Guardian
Share Company Ltd, a company equally owned by the founders of Cafédirect plc (Equal Exchange
Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin Trading Ltd) and Cafédirect Producers Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009
It has the right to nominate a director to the company’s Board and its consent is also required for the
appointment of the Chair of the Board, for any changes to the company’s Gold Standard and for certain
changes to the Memorandum and Articles of Association.
Share Incentive Plan
During 2005 35,400 Ordinary shares of 25p each were issued under the company’s Share Incentive
Plan to employees based on their length of service. During 2009, payments totalling £nil (2008:
£12,900) were made to employees who left the company during the period in respect of their share
entitlements. At 31 December 2009 employees held 4,500 shares under this Plan with the balance of
30,900 remaining unallocated.
16

17

SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

2009
£

2008
£

Balance at start and end of period

3,303,691

3,303,691

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2009
£

2008
£

Balance at start of period
Profit for the period
Equity dividend paid

2,614,340
84,445
(179,908)

1,986,935
627,405
-

Balance at end of period

2,518,877

2,614,340

The equity dividend of £179,908 represents 2p per share and was paid in May 2009 following approval at
the company’s Annual General Meeting.
18

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

2009
£

2008
£

Balance at start of period
Profit for the period
Equity dividend paid

8,166,881
84,445
(179,908)

7,539,476
627,405
-

Balance at end of period

8,071,418

8,166,881
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Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009

19

CASH FLOWS

(15 months)
2009
£

a

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating
activities
Operating profit
Depreciation
Loss on sale of fixed assets
(Increase) in stocks
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
(Decrease)/increase in provisions

46,767
133,799
(672,491)
1,112,435
(463,326)
(306,727)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

b

c

(149,543)

(12 months)
2008
£

759,739
158,966
9,857
(129,709)
(233,111)
425,337
306,727
1,297,806

(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
Interest received
Interest paid

74,701
(1,356)

143,559
(2,093)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS
AND SERVICING OF FINANCE

73,345

141,466

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets

(288,825)
-

(94,353)
-

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND
FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

(288,825)

(94,353)

Analysis of cash flows for headings netted in the cash flow

FINANCING
Increase in debt due within one year

-

20,655

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING

-

20,655

Cash flow
£

At 31
December
2009
£

Analysis of net funds

At 30
September
2008
£

Cash in hand, at bank

4,180,595

(812,964)

3,367,631
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20

COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
At 31 December the company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows:

Land and buildings
expiring in the first year
expiring in the second to fifth year
Other
expiring in the first year
expiring in the second to fifth year

21

2009
£

2008
£

136,994

31,410
-

8,253
6,149

2,138
2,160

151,396

35,708

PENSION COMMITMENTS
The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge
represents contributions payable by the company to the fund and amounted to £135,926 (2008:
£71,232). Contributions totalling £9,278 (2008: £6,850) were payable to the fund at the period end and
are included in creditors.

22

COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2009 the company was committed to purchase £0.9 million (2008: £2.0 million) of
coffee beans, £28,000 (2008: £366,000) of tea and £69,000 (2008: £57,000) of cocoa beans.

23

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to manage these exposures. The company does
not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. The use of financial derivatives is
governed by the company’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide written
principles in the use of financial derivatives.
At 31 December 2009 the company had in place forward exchange contracts to buy 2.65 million US
dollars (2008: 2.6 million US dollars) at an average exchange rate of $1.56=£1 (2008: $1.90=£1), and
2.3 million euros (2008: 4.5 million euros) at an average exchange rate of €1.11=£1 (2008: €1.27=£1).
These forward exchange contracts were taken out to mitigate the company’s foreign currency risks on
its forecast tea purchases and freeze-dried coffee processing costs over the next 12 months,
respectively. As a result of these arrangements, at 31 December 2009 the company had an unrealised
loss of £28,000 in respect of the US dollar contracts (2008: unrealised gain of £84,000) and an
unrealised loss of £37,000 in respect of the Euro contracts (2008: £14,000). These figures represent the
difference between the spot rate at the balance sheet date and the average hedge rates entered into over
the coming year. The directors consider these arrangements give the company more certainty in
managing its exposure to currency movements which are required to meet the majority of its tea raw
material purchases and freeze-dried coffee processing.
In addition a related party, Twin Trading Ltd, takes out forward exchange contracts on Cafédirect’s
behalf to mitigate the foreign exchange risk on Cafédirect’s forecast coffee bean purchases over the
next 12 months. At 31 December 2009 Twin Trading Ltd had in place contracts to buy 2.3 million US

Page 28

Cafédirect plc
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the period ended 31 December 2009
dollars (2008: 5.7 million US dollars) at an average exchange rate of $1.44=£1 (2008: $1.92=£),
representing an unrealised loss of £184,000 (2008: unrealised gain of £203,000) against the spot rate.
24

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(15 months)
2009
£

(12 months)
2008
£

Debtor balances with related parties:
Trade debtors

200,281

281,848

Creditor balances with related parties:
Trade creditors
Accruals

103,680
52,494

88,009
49,929

2,200,696
5,371,945
628,598
81,170

1,974,009
5,437,425
728,938
-

The following are included in the financial statements:

Transactions with related parties:
Sale of goods
Purchase of goods
Services provided
Dividends paid

The related parties comprise the four founder shareholders of Cafédirect, namely Equal Exchange
Trading Ltd, Oxfam Activities Ltd, Traidcraft plc and Twin Trading Ltd, who each hold around 10% of
the share capital of the company, and Cafédirect Producers Ltd, which holds 5% of the share capital of
the company. All transactions with related parties are on arms’ length terms.
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